THERMODYNAMIC FORMALISM AND GEOMETRIC APPLICATIONS FOR TRANSCENDENTAL MEROMORPHIC AND ENTIRE FUNCTIONS

VOLKER MAYER AND MARIUSZ URBAŃSKI

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Notation	4
3. Transcendental functions, hyperbolicity and expansion	5
3.1. Dynamical preliminaries	5
3.2. Hyperbolicity and expansion	7
3.3. Disjoint type entire functions	8
4. Topological Pressure and Conformal Measures	8 9
4.1. Topological Pressure	9
4.2. Conformal measures and transfer operator	10
4.3. Existence of conformal measures	12
4.4. Conformal measures on the radial set and recurrence	13
4.5. 2-conformal measures	16
5. Perron-Frobenus-Ruelle Theorem, Spectral gap and applicat	tions 17
5.1. Growth conditions	18
5.2. Geometry of tracts	22
6. Hyperbolic dimension and Bowen's Formula	25
6.1. Estimates for the hyperbolic dimension	25
6.2. Bowen's Formula	26
7. Real Analyticity of Fractal Dimensions	27
8. Beyond hyperbolicity	30
References	32

²⁰⁰⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 30D05, 37F10

Key words and phrases: Holomorphic dynamics, Thermodynamic formalism, Transcendental meromorphic and entire functions, Fractal geometry, Hausdorff dimension, hyperbolic dimension, conformal measures, topological pressure, transfer operators, real analyticity, Julia sets, radial Julia sets. Research of the second named author supported in part by the Simons Grant: 581668.

1. Introduction

Originating from statistical physics, the dynamical theory of thermodynamic formalism was brought to mathematics, particularly to study expanding and hyperbolic dynamical systems, primarily by R. Bowen [Bo75], D. Ruelle [Rue78], Ya. Sinai [Si72], and P. Walters [Wal75] in the 1970's. This theory provides an excellent framework for probabilistic description of the chaotic part of the dynamics and, in the context of smooth (particularly conformal) expanding/hyperbolic dynamical systems, gives a rich and detailed information about the geometry of expanding repellers, limit sets of Kleinian groups and iterated function systems, and Julia sets of holomorphic dynamical systems. More precisely, by establishing the existence and uniqueness of Gibbs and equilibrium states, and studying spectral and asymptotic properties of corresponding Perron-Frobenius operators, it permits to show that dynamical systems are "strongly" mixing (K-mixing, weak Bernoulli), have exponential decay of correlations, satisfy the Invariant Principle Almost Surely, in particular satisfy the Central Limit Theorem, and the Law of Iterated Logarithm. Furthermore, by studying the topological pressure function of geometric potentials, particularly its regularity properties (real analyticity, convexity), this theory gives a precise information about the fractal geometry of Julia and limit sets. Particularly, R. Bowen initially showed in [Bo79] that the Hausdorff dimension of the limit set of a co-compact quasi-Fuchsian group is given by the unique zero of the appropriate pressure function. His result and its numerous versions commonly bear the name of Bowen's Formula ever since. Bowen's results easily carry through to the case of expanding (hyperbolic) rational functions providing a closed formula for the Hausdorff dimension of their Julia sets. D. Ruelle, positively answering a conjecture of D. Sullivan (see [Su79]–[Su86]), proved in [Rue82] that this dimension depends in a real analytic way on the function.

For hyperbolic, and even much further beyond, rational functions, and more general distance expanding maps, the theory of thermodynamic formalism is now well developed and established, and its systematic account can be found in [PU10] (see also [Wal82, Zi00], [MRU20], [KU20]). The present text concerns transcendental entire and meromorphic functions. For these classes of functions many differences and new phenomena pop up that do not occur in the case of rational maps. The following two properties of transcendental functions show from the outset that the outlook of these classes is indeed totally different than the one of rational functions.

- Whereas the singularities of hyperbolic rational maps stay away form their Julia sets, for transcendental functions one always has to deal with the singularity at infinity.
- Transcendental functions have infinite degree.

One immediate consequence of the later fact is that for transcendental functions there is no measure of maximal entropy, which is one of the central objects in the theory of rational functions. Particularly for polynomials, where this measure coincides with harmonic measure viewing from infinity, and also for endomorphisms of higher dimensional projective spaces. Another consequence is that all Perron–Frobenius,

or transfer, operators of a transcendental meromorphic functions are always defined by an infinite series. This is the reason that, even for such classical functions as exponential ones $f_{\lambda}(z) = \lambda e^{z}$, this operator taken in its most natural sense, is not even well–defined.

K. Barański first managed to overcome these difficulties and presented a thermodynamical formalism for the tangent family in [Ba95]. Expanding the ideas from [Ba95] led to [KU02], where Walters expanding maps and Barański maps were introduced and studied. One important feature of the maps treated in [Ba95] and [KU02] was that all analytic inverse branches were well-defined at all points of Julia sets. This property dramatically fails for example for entire functions as $f_{\lambda}(z) = \lambda e^{z}$ (there are no well-defined inverse branches at infinity). To remedy this situation, the periodicity of f_{λ} was exploited to project the dynamics of these functions down to the cylinder and the appropriate thermodynamical formalism was developed in [UZ03] and [UZ04]. This approach has been adopted to other periodic transcendental functions; besides the papers cited above, see also [CS07a, CS07b, KU04, MU05, UZ07, DUZ07] and the survey [KU08].

The first general theory of thermodynamic formalism for transcendental meromorphic and entire functions was laid down in the year 2008 in [MU08]. [MU10b] containes a complete treatment of this approach. It handled all the periodic functions cited above in a uniform way and went much farther beyond. The most important key point in these two papers was to replace the standard Euclidean metric by an appropriate Riemannian metric. Then the power series defining the Perron–Frobenius operators of geometric potentials becomes comparable to the Borel series and can be controlled by means of Nevanlinna's value distribution theory.

For a large class of transcendental entire functions whose set of singularities is bounded, quite an optimal approach to thermodynamic formalism was laid down and developed in [MU17].

It was observed in this paper that, for these entire functions, the transfer operator entirely depends on the geometry of the logarithmic tracts, in fact on the behavior of the boundary of the tracts near infinity. The best way to deal with the often fractal behavior of the tracts near infinity was by adapting the concept of integral means, a classical and powerful tool in the theory of conformal mappings.

This text provides an overview of the (geometric) thermodynamic formalism for transcendental meromorphic and entire functions with particular emphasis on geometric/fractal aspects such as Bowen's Formula expressing the hyperbolic dimension as a unique zero of a pressure function and the behavior of the latter when the transcendental functions vary in an analytic family.

There are some several important and interesting topics closely related to the subject matter of our exposition that will nevertheless not be treated at all or will be merely briefly mentioned in our survey. For example, this exposition only briefly indicates that thermodynamic formalism has been successfully developed for random transcendental dynamical systems; see [MU14, MUZ16], comp. also [UZ18] for non–hyperbolic random dynamics of transcendental functions. Non–hyperbolic

functions will not be in the focus of our current exposition either but we would like to bring reader's attention to some relevant papers that include [UZ07], [MU10a] and [UZ18]. Discussing all these topics at length and detail would increase the length of our survey substantially, making it too long, and would lead us too far beyond of what we intended to focus on in the current survey.

We would like to thank the referee for his valuable remarks which influenced the final version of the paper.

2. Notation

Frequently we have to replace Euclidean metric by some other Riemannian metric $d\sigma = \gamma |dz|$. A natural choice is the spherical metric in which case the density with respect to Euclidean metric is $\gamma(z) = 1/(1+|z|^2)$. More generally, we consider metrics of the form

(1)
$$d\sigma(z) = d\sigma_{\tau}(z) = \frac{|dz|}{1 + |z|^{\tau}} \quad , \quad \tau \ge 0.$$

They vary between euclidean and spherical metrics when $\tau \in [0,2]$. If such a metric is used only away from the origin, then one can use the simpler form

(2)
$$d\tau(z) = |z|^{-\tau} |dz|.$$

We denote by $D_{\sigma}(z,r)$ the open disk with center z and radius r with respect metric σ . If σ is the spherical metric then this disk is also denoted by $D_{sph}(z,r)$ and for the standard euclidean metric $\mathbb{D}(z,r)$. We also denote

$$\mathbb{D}_R = \mathbb{D}(0, R)$$

and

$$\mathbb{D}_R^* = \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}(z, R).$$

The symbol

$$A(r,R) := \mathbb{D}_R \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}_r$$

is used to denote the annulus centered at 0 with the inner radius r and the outer radius R.

The derivative of a function f with respect to a Riemannian metric $d\sigma = \gamma |dz|$ is given by

(3)
$$|f'(z)|_{\sigma} = \frac{d\sigma(f(z))}{d\sigma(z)} = |f'(z)| \frac{\gamma(f(z))}{\gamma(z)}.$$

When the metric σ has the form (1) or (2) then $d\sigma$ only depends on τ and we will identify σ and τ and write $|f'(z)|_{\tau}$ instead of $|f'(z)|_{\sigma}$. Therefore,

$$|f'(z)|_{\tau} = \frac{|f'(z)|}{1 + |f(z)|^{\tau}} (1 + |z|^{\tau}) \quad \text{and} \quad |f'(z)|_{\tau} = \frac{|f'(z)|}{|f(z)|^{\tau}} |z|^{\tau}$$

in the case of the simpler form (2). When $\tau = 2$ then we also write $|f'(z)|_{sph}$.

Besides this, we use common notation such as \mathbb{C} and $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ for the Euclidean plane and the Riemann sphere respectively. Another common notation is

$$A \times B$$
.

As usually, it means that the ratio A/B is bounded below and above by strictly positive and finite constants that do not depend on the parameters involved. The corresponding inequalities up to a multiplicative constant are denoted by

$$A \leq B$$
 and $A \geq B$.

Also,

denotes the Euclidean distance between the sets $E, F \subset \mathbb{C}$.

3. Transcendental functions, hyperbolicity and expansion

We consider transcendental entire or meromorphic functions. Such a function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ can have two types of singularities: asymptotical and critical values. We refer to [BE08] for the classification of the different types of singularities, known as Iversen's classification, denote by S(f) the closure of the set of critical values and finite asymptotic values of f.

Transcendental functions are very general and one is led, actually forced, to consider reasonable subclasses. The class \mathcal{B} of bounded type functions consists of all meromorphic functions for which the set S(f) is bounded. Bounded type entire functions have been introduced and studied in [EL92], \mathcal{B} is also called the Eremenko–Lyubich class. It contains an important subclass, called Speiser class, which consists of all meromorphic functions for which the set S(f) is finite.

3.1. **Dynamical preliminaries.** For a general introduction of the dynamical aspects of meromorphic functions we refer to the survey article of Bergweiler [Bw93] and the book [KU20]. We collect here some of its properties, primarily the ones we will need in the sequel. The Fatou set of a meromorphic function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is denoted by F(f). It is defined as usually to be the set of all points $z \in \mathbb{C}$ for which there exists a neighborhood U of z on which all the iterates f^k , $k \ge 1$, of the function f are defined and form a normal family. The complement of this set is the Julia set $\hat{\mathcal{J}}(f) = \hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus F(f)$. We write

$$J(f) = \hat{\mathcal{J}}(f) \cap \mathbb{C}.$$

By Picard's theorem, there are at most two points $\xi \in \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ that have finite backward orbit $O^-(\xi) = \bigcup_{n \geq 0} f^{-n}(z_0)$. The set of these points is the exceptional set \mathcal{E}_f . In contrast to the case of rational maps it may happen that $\mathcal{E}_f \subset \hat{\mathcal{J}}(f)$. Iversen's theorem [Iv1914, Nev70] asserts that every point $\xi \in \mathcal{E}_f$ is an asymptotic value. Consequently, \mathcal{E}_f is contained in S(f). the set of critical and finite asymptotic values of f. The post-critical set $\mathcal{P}(f)$ is defined to be the closure in the complex plane \mathbb{C} of

$$\bigcup_{n>0} f^n \Big(S(f) \setminus f^{-n}(\infty) \Big) .$$

This set can contain the whole Julia set.

Definition 1. *If* $J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f) \neq \emptyset$ *then f is called tame.*

The Julia set contains several dynamically important subsets. First, there is the *escaping set*

$$I(f) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; f^n(z) \text{ is defined for all } n \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} f^n(z) = \infty\}.$$

This set is not always a subset of the Julia set, it may contain Baker domains. However, for entire functions of bounded type $I(f) \subset J(f)$ ([EL92, Theorem 1]). More important for us is the following set.

Definition 2. The radial (or conical) Julia set $J_r(f)$ of f is the set of points $z \in J(f)$ such that there exist $\delta > 0$ and an unbounded sequence $(n_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of positive integers such that the sequence $(|f^{n_j}(z)|)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is bounded above and the map

$$f^{n_j}: U_j \longrightarrow \mathbb{D}(f^{n_j}(z), \delta)$$

is conformal, where U_i is the connected component of $f^{-n_j}(\mathbb{D}(f^{n_j}(z),\delta))$ containing z.

There are other definitions of radial sets in the literature. While the present definition is in the spirit of the one from [SU14], the radial points in [Re09a] are defined by means of spherical disks. Namely, $z \in J_r^{sph}(f)$ if $z \in J(f)$ if there exist $\delta > 0$ and an unbounded sequence $(n_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of positive integers such that

$$f^{n_j}:U_j\longrightarrow D_{sph}(f^{n_j}(z),\delta)$$

is conformal where U_j is the connected component of $f^{-n_j}(D_{sph}(f^{n_j}(z), \delta))$ containing z. Right from these definitions it is easy to see that $J_r(f) \subset J_r^{sph}(f)$. Also,

$$(4) J_r(f) \subset J(f) \setminus I(f).$$

The differences between all of these radial sets are dynamically insignificant in the sense that they all have the same Hausdorff dimension and this dimension coincides with the hyperbolic dimension, which we define right now.

Definition 3. The hyperbolic dimension of a meromorphic function $f : \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$, denoted by $\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f)$, is

$$HD_{\text{hyp}}(f) = \sup_{K} HD(K)$$

where the supremum is taken over all hyperbolic sets $K \subset \mathbb{C}$, i.e. over all compact sets $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $f(K) \subset K$ and $f|_K$ is expanding.

Lemma 4.
$$HD_{hyp}(f) = HD(J_r(f)) = HD(J_r^{sph}(f)).$$

Proof. Let *K* be a hyperbolic set. Then, following [PU10, Section 5] especially Lemma 5.1.1, there exists $\eta > 0$ such that

$$f_{|\mathbb{D}(z,\eta)}$$
 injective and $f(\mathbb{D}(z,\eta)) \supset \mathbb{D}(f(z),\eta)$ for all $z \in K$.

This shows that $K \subset J_r(f)$ and thus $\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f) \leq \mathrm{HD}(J_r(f))$. Since $J_r(f) \subset J_r^{sph}(f)$ we also have $\mathrm{HD}(J_r(f)) \leq \mathrm{HD}(J_r^{sph}(f))$. The conclusion comes now from the result in [Re09a] which says that $\mathrm{HD}(J_r^{sph}(f)) = \mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f)$.

3.2. **Hyperbolicity and expansion.** There are several notions of hyperbolic transcendental functions in the literature (see for example [Zh15]). The following definition is used fairly frequently.

Definition 5. A meromorphic function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is called hyperbolic if and only if

(5)
$$\mathcal{P}(f)$$
 is bounded and $\mathcal{P}(f) \cap J(f) = \emptyset$.

Notice that then $f \in \mathcal{B}$, i.e. it is of bounded type. The following notion has been used by G. Stallard in [St90]. Later it was considered in [MU08, MU10b] where the, somehow misleading, name topologically hyperbolic was used. Since it is based on the euclidean distance, let us call it *Euclidean hyperbolic* here.

Definition 6. A meromorphic function f is called E–hyperbolic if

$$dist(J(f), \mathcal{P}(f)) > 0$$
.

Clearly, a hyperbolic function is E–hyperbolic but the later notion is much more general. For example, the function $f(z) = 2 - \log 2 + 2z - e^z$ is E–hyperbolic and has a Baker domain (see [Bw95]). Other examples arise naturally in the context of Newton maps. This has been observed in [BFJK] and $f(z) = z - \tan z$ is a different exemple of E–hyperbolic function that is not hyperbolic.

For E-hyperbolic functions every non-escaping point of the Julia set is a radial point. Together with (4) it follows that in this case we have equality between these type of points:

$$(6) J_r(f) = J(f) \setminus I(f).$$

For rational functions, E-hyperbolicity is equivalent to the property of being expanding.

Definition 7. A meromorphic function $f : \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is called expanding if and only if there are two constants c > 0 and $\gamma > 1$ such that

$$|(f^n)'(z)| \ge c\gamma^n \quad for \ all \ \ z \in J(f) \setminus f^{-n}(\infty) \ .$$

The function $f(z) = z - \tan z$ is E-hyperbolic and $|f'(z)| \to 1$ as $\Im f(z) \to \infty$. Since there are vertical lines in J(f), it follows that this function is not expanding. Thus, contrary to the case of rational maps, E-hyperbolicity and expanding are not equivalent for transcendental functions. It is shown in [St90] that every entire E-hyperbolic function f satisfies $\lim_{n\to\infty} |(f^n)'(z)| \to \infty$ for all $z \in \mathcal{J}_f$ and under some conditions the expanding property follows from E-hyperbolicity (see Proposition 4.4 in [MU10b]).

Example 8. Let $0 < c < 1/e^3$. Then the Fatou function $f(z) = z - \log c + e^{-z}$ is not hyperbolic but it is E-hyperbolic and expanding.

In order to verify this statement, we recall the classical argument that f is semi-conjugate via $w = e^{-z}$ to the map $g(w) = cwe^{-w}$ (see for example [Rip08]). By the choice of the constant $0 < c < 1/e^3$, the origin is an attracting fixed point of the map g and a simple estimation allows to check that

$$(7) g(\overline{\mathbb{D}}_3) \subset \mathbb{D}_3.$$

Consequently, the half space $\{\Re z \ge -\log 3\}$ is contained in a Baker domain of f and the Julia set $J(f) \subset \{\Re z < -\log 3\}$. Now, a simple estimate shows that

$$|f'(z)| \ge 2$$
 for all z with $\Re z \le -\log 3$.

Consequently f is expanding on its Julia set.

It remains to check that f is E–hyperbolic . The function f has no finite asymptotic value and its critical points are $c_k = 2\pi i k$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. It follows from (7) that there exists $\rho > -\log 3$ such that $\Re f^n(c_k) \ge \rho$ for every $n \ge 0$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. This shows that f is indeed E–hyperbolic .

3.3. **Disjoint type entire functions.** For entire functions there is a relevant strong form of hyperbolicity called *disjoint type*, the notion that first implicitly appeared in [Ba07] and then was explicitly studied in several papers including [RRRS, Re09b]. Disjoint type functions are of bounded type. So, let $f \in \mathcal{B}$ be an entire function and let R > 0 such that $S(f) \subset \mathbb{D}_R$. Up to normalization we can assume that R = 1. Then $f^{-1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ consists of countably many mutually disjoint unbounded Jordan domains Ω_j with real analytic boundaries such that $f: \Omega_j \to \mathbb{D}^*$ is a covering map (see [EL92]). In terms of the classification of singularities, this means that f has only *logarithmic singularities* over infinity. These connected components of $f^{-1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ are called *tracts* and the restriction of f to any of these tracts Ω_i has the special form

(8)
$$f_{|\Omega_j} = \exp \circ \tau_j \text{ where } \varphi_j = \tau_j^{-1} : \mathcal{H} = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \Re(z) > 0 \right\} \longrightarrow \Omega_j$$

is a conformal map. Later on we often assume that f has only finitely many tracts:

(9)
$$f^{-1}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \bigcup_{j=1}^N \Omega_j.$$

Notice that this is always the case if the function f has finite order. Indeed, if f has finite order then the Denjoy-Carleman-Ahlfors Theorem (see [Nev74, p. 313]) states that f can have only finitely many direct singularities and so, in particular, only finitely many logarithmic singularities over infinity.

Definition 9. *If* $f \in \mathcal{B}$ *is entire such that*

(10)
$$S(f) \subset \mathbb{D}$$
 and $\bigcup_{j} \overline{\Omega}_{j} \cap \overline{\mathbb{D}} = \emptyset$, equivalently $f^{-1}(\overline{\mathbb{D}^{*}}) = \bigcup_{j} \overline{\Omega}_{j} \subset \mathbb{D}^{*}$,

then f is called a disjoint type function.

This definition is not the original one but it is consistent with the disjoint type models in Bishop's paper [Bi15]. The function f is then indeed of disjoint type in the sense of [Ba07, RRRS, Re09b]. It is well known that for every $f \in \mathcal{B}$ the function λf , $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$, is of disjoint type provided λ is small enough (see [BK07] and [Re09b, p.261]). Also, the Julia set of a disjoint type entire function is a subset of its tracts and therefore only the restriction of the function to these tracts is relevant for the study of dynamics of such a function near the Julia set.

Besides functions of class S and B we consider the following subclass of bounded type entire functions called class D. In this definition,

(11)
$$Q_T = \left\{ 0 < \Re z < 4T \; ; \; -4T < \Im z < 4T \right\} \quad , \quad T > 0.$$

Definition 10. An entire function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ belongs to class \mathcal{D} if it is of disjoint type, has only finitely many tracts (see (9)) and if, for every tract, the function φ of (8) satisfies

(12)
$$|\varphi(\xi)| \le M|\varphi(\xi')| \quad \text{for all} \quad \xi, \xi' \in Q_T \setminus Q_{T/8},$$

for some constant $M \in (0, +\infty)$ and every $T \ge 1$.

4. Topological Pressure and Conformal Measures

This section is devoted to two crucial objects: the topological pressure and conformal measures. Compared to the case of rational functions, they both behave totally differently in the context of transcendental functions. For example, since transcendental functions have infinite degree, the topological pressure evaluated at zero is always infinite. Also, the existence of the pressure and, even more importantly, of conformal measures is not known in full generality for meromorphic functions.

4.1. **Topological Pressure.** A standard argument, based on mixing properties (see Lemma 5.8 in [MU10b]), shows that for a E-hyperbolic meromorphic function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ the following number, which might be finite or infinite,

(13)
$$P_{\tau}(t) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{f^{n}(z) = w} |(f^{n})'(z)|_{\tau}^{-t}$$

does not depend on the point $w \in J(f)$. However, this number may depend on the metric τ and it clearly depends on the parameter t > 0.

Definition 11. Let $f: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ be E-hyperbolic meromorphic function. The topological pressure of f evaluated at t > 0 with respect to the metric τ as defined in (1) is the (possibly infinite) number $P_{\tau}(t)$ defined by formula (13). When $\tau = 2$, i.e. $d\sigma_{\tau}$ is the spherical metric, then we also write $P_{\tau}(t) = P_{svh}(t)$.

Given a meromorphic function $f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$, a number $\tau \ge 0$, and a parameter $t \ge 0$, we say that the topological pressure $P_{\tau}(t)$ exists if the number defined by formula (13) is independent of w for some "sufficiently large" set of points $w \in J(f)$.

The most general result on the existence of topological pressure going beyond E–hyperbolic functions is due to Barański, Karpińska and Zdunik [BKZ12]. They work with spherical metric and call a meromorphic function *f exceptional* if and only

if it has a (Picard) exceptional value a in the Julia set and f has a non–logarithmic singularity over a.

Theorem 12 ([BKZ12]). Let $f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ be either a meromorphic function in class S or a non–exceptional and tame function in class S. Then the limit

$$P_{sph}(t) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{f^n(z) = w} |(f^n)'(z)|_{sph}^{-t}$$

exists (possibly equal to infinity) for all t > 0 and does not depend on w where w is a good pressure starting point $w \in \mathbb{C}$ whose precise meaning is given in [BKZ12, Section 4].

If f is tame then every $w \in J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f)$ is such a good point. Also, if $f \in \mathcal{B}$ is E-hyperbolic, then each point $w \in J(f)$ is good.

It is also shown in [BKZ12] that the pressure function has the usual natural properties.

Proposition 13 ([BKZ12]). Under the assumptions of Theorem 12, $P_{sph}(0) = +\infty$ and $P_{svh}(2) \le 0$, and thus

(14)
$$\Theta_{sph} := \inf\{t > 0 : P_{sph}(t) < \infty\} \in [0, 2]$$

In addition:

$$P_{sph}(t) = +\infty$$
 for all $t < \Theta_{sph}$ and $P_{sph}(t) < +\infty$ for all $t > \Theta_{sph}$.

The resulting function

$$(\Theta_{sph}, \infty) \ni t \longmapsto P_{sph}(t)$$

is non-increasing and convex, hence continuous.

Notice that this result does not provide any information about the behavior of the pressure function at the critical value $t = \Theta_{sph}$. For classical families, such as the exponential family, the pressure at Θ_{sph} is infinite. Curious examples of functions that behave differently at the critical value are provided in [MZ19]. We will come back to such examples later in Theorem 38.

4.2. Conformal measures and transfer operator. Conformal measures were first defined and introduced by Samuel Patterson in his seminal paper [Pat76] (see also [Pat87]) in the context of Fuchsian groups. Dennis Sullivan extended this concept to all Kleinian groups in [Su82b, Su83, Su86]. He then, in the papers [Su79, Su84, Su82a], defined conformal measures for all rational functions of the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. He also proved their existence therein. Both Patterson and Sullivan came up with conformal measures in order to get an understanding of geometric measures, i.e. Hausdorff and packing ones. Although already Sullivan noticed that there are conformal measures for Kleinian groups that are not equal, nor even equivalent, to any Hausdorff and packing (generalized) measure, the main purpose to deal with them is still to understand Hausdorff and packing measures but goes beyond.

Conformal measures, in the sense of Sullivan have been studied in greater detail in [DU91a], where, in particular, the structure of the set of their exponents was examined. We do this for our class of transcendental functions.

Since then conformal measures in the context of rational functions have been studied in numerous research works. We list here only very few of them appearing in the early stages of the development of their theory: [DU91b], [DU92], [DU92]. Subsequently the concept of conformal measures, in the sense of Sullivan, has been extended to countable alphabet iterated functions systems in [MU96] and to conformal graph directed Markov systems in [MauUrb03]. It was furthermore extended to transcendental meromorphic dynamics in [KU02], [UZ03], and [MU08]. See also [MU10b], [UZ04], and [BKZ18]. Lastly, the concept of conformal measures found its place also in random dynamics; we cite only [MSU11], [MU14], and [UZ18].

Definition 14. Let $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ be a meromorphic function. A Borel probability measure m_t on J(f) is called $\lambda |f'|_{\tau}^t$ —conformal if

$$m_t(f(E)) = \int_E \lambda |f'|_\tau^t dm_t.$$

for every Borel $E \subset J(f)$ such that the restriction $f|_E$ is injective. The scalar λ is called the conformal factor and, if $\lambda = 1$, then m_t is called a t-conformal measure.

If f has a $\lambda |f'|_{\tau}^t$ —conformal measure m_t and if f is E–hyperbolic then, using Koebe's Distortion Theorem, we get for all $w \in J(f)$ that

(15)
$$1 \ge \sum_{z \in f^{-1}(w)} m_t(U_z) \times \lambda^{-1} m_t(\mathbb{D}(w, r)) \sum_{z \in f^{-1}(w)} |f'(z)|_{\tau}^{-t},$$

where for every $z \in f^{-1}(w)$, U_z is the connected component of $f^{-1}(\mathbb{D}(w,r))$ containing z. Consequently, the series on the right hand side of (15) is well defined. This allows us to introduce the corresponding transfer, or Perron–Frobenius–Ruelle, operator. Its standard definition as an operator acting on the space $C_b(J(f))$ of continuous bounded functions on the Julia set J(f) is the following.

Definition 15. Let $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ be a E-hyperbolic meromorphic function. Fix $\tau > 0$ and t > 0. The transfer operator of f with (geometric) potential $\psi := -t \log |f'(z)|_{\tau}$, t > 0, is defined by

(16)
$$\mathcal{L}_t g(w) := \sum_{f(z) = w} e^{\psi(z)} g(z) = \sum_{f(z) = w} |f'(z)|_{\tau}^{-t} g(z) \quad , \quad w \in J(f) \; , \; g \in C_b(J(f)).$$

Note that (15) does not imply boundedness of the linear operator \mathcal{L}_t . This crucial issue will be discussed in the next section. Let us simply mention here that, iterating the inequality (15) (which is possible if we assume f to be E–hyperbolic) shows that we have the following relation between the pressure and the conformal factor λ :

(17)
$$P_{\tau}(t) \leq \log \lambda.$$

On the other hand, if the transfer operator, in fact its adjoint operator \mathcal{L}_t^* , is well defined, then m_t being a conformal measure equivalently means that m_t is an eigenmeasure of \mathcal{L}_t^* with eigenvalue λ :

$$\mathcal{L}_t^* m_t = \lambda m_t.$$

As defined, the measure $m_t = m_{\tau,t}$ does depend on the metric τ . Given $\tau' \neq \tau$ and corresponding Riemannian metrics (see (2)), we then have

(18)
$$\frac{dm_{\tau',t}}{dm_{\tau,t}}(z) = \frac{|z|^{(\tau-\tau')t}}{\int_{I(t)} |\xi|^{(\tau-\tau')t} dm_{\tau,t}(\xi)}$$

provided the above integral is finite. For example, this allows one to get spherical conformal measures as soon as we have conformal measures $m_{\tau,t}$ for a τ -metric with $\tau \leq 2$; this will be the case later in the results Theorem 25 and Theorem 35. Indeed, the formula

(19)
$$\frac{dm_{sph,t}}{dm_{\tau,t}}(z) := \frac{|z|^{(\tau-\tau')t}}{\int_{J(f)} |\xi|^{(\tau-\tau')t} dm_{\tau,t}(\xi)}$$

defines a spherical conformal probability measure $m_{sph,t}$. But then it may happen that the corresponding density (Radon–Nikodym derivative) $d\mu_t/dm_{sph,t}$ in Theorem 25 or Theorem 35 is no longer a bounded function.

4.3. **Existence of conformal measures.** As we have already said, for rational functions, Denis Sullivan proved in [Su82b] that every rational function admits a conformal measure with conformal factor $\lambda = 1$. For transcendental functions this is not so in full generality and this is again because of the singularity at infinity. In general, a conformal measure is obtained by a (weak) limit procedure and one has to make sure that the mass does not escape to infinity when passing to the limit.

There are two particular cases where natural t–conformal measures do exist. First of all, there are different types of meromorphic functions for which the (normalized) spherical Lebesgue measure is a 2–conformal measure. This is the case for functions f with $J(f) = \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ and for those having a Julia set of positive area such as the functions of the sine family. This is a result of Curtis McMullen [McM87]; we will come back to it and to its generalizations in greater detail in Section 4.5.

The other particular case is formed by meromorphic functions having as their Julia sets the real line \mathbb{R} or a geometric circle, and thus having a natural 1–conformal measure. Functions of this type arise among inner functions studied by Aaronson [Aa97] and Doering–Mané [DM89].

Coming now to the general case, the relation between topological pressure and the existence of conformal measures has been studied in [BKZ18]. The hypotheses of this paper are again those of Theorem 12 and thus it goes far beyond (E–) hyperbolic functions. Theorem C of that paper contains the following general statement for the existence of *t*–conformal measures.

Theorem 16 ([BKZ18]). Let $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ be either a meromorphic function in class S or a non–exceptional and tame function in class B. If $P_{sph}(t) = 0$ for some t > 0, then f has a $|f'|_2^t$ –conformal measure, i.e. a t–conformal measure, with respect to the spherical metric.

For E-hyperbolic and expanding function there exists a general construction of conformal measures. It allows us to produce conformal measures, defined with respect to adapted τ -metrics, with various conformal factors λ . The proof of Proposition 8.7 in [MU17] along with Section 5.3 in [MU10b] yield the following.

Theorem 17. Let $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ be E-hyperbolic and expanding. Assume that t > 0 and τ are such that

$$\|\mathcal{L}_t 1\!\!1\|_\infty < +\infty \quad and \quad \lim_{|w| \to \infty, \ w \in J(f)} \mathcal{L}_t 1\!\!1(w) = 0.$$
 Then there exist a $\lambda |f'|_\tau^t$ -conformal measure with $\lambda = e^{\mathrm{P}_\tau(t)}$.

The first hypothesis of this theorem tells us that we have a "good" well defined bounded linear transfer operator. The second hypothesis can be used to prove tightness of an appropriate sequence of purely atomic measure, which in turn allows us to produce, as its weak* limit, a desired conformal measure. Then Theorem 17 follows.

4.4. Conformal measures on the radial set and recurrence. For rational functions the behavior of conformal measures on the radial set is fairly well understood. For example, it has been studied in [DMNU98] and in [McM00, Section 5], and most of the arguments from these papers can be adapted to the transcendental case.

Theorem 18. Let m_t be a $\lambda |f'|_{\tau}^t$ -conformal measure of a meromorphic function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ such that $m_t(J_r(f)) > 0$. Then

$$m_t(J_r(f)) = 1 \quad ,$$

 m_t is ergodic, m_t almost every point has a dense orbit in J(f) and m_t is a unique $\lambda |f'|_{\tau}^t$ conformal measure. More precisely, if m is a $\rho |f'|_{\tau}^{t}$ -conformal measure then $\lambda = \rho$ and $m=m_t$.

Proof. The radial Julia set has been defined in Definition 2. For any $z \in I_r(f)$, let $\delta(z) > 0$ be the number δ and let $(n_i)_{i \ge 1}$ be the sequence associated to z, both according to Definition 2. Define then

$$J_r(f,\delta) := \left\{ z \in J_r(f) : \delta(z) \ge 2\delta \text{ and } \sup_{j \ge 1} \left\{ |f^{n_j}(z)| \right\} \le 1/\delta \right\}.$$

Then

(20)
$$J_r(f) = \bigcup_{\delta > 0} J_r(f, \delta)$$

and, if $m_t(J_r(f)) > 0$, then $m_t(J_r(f,\delta)) > 0$ for some $\delta > 0$.

For all $z \in J_r(f)$, consider the blow up mappings

$$f^{n_j}: V_j(z) \longrightarrow \mathbb{D}(f^{n_j}(z), 2\delta), \quad j \ge 1,$$

where $V_j(z)$ is the connected component of $f^{-n_j}(\mathbb{D}(f^{n_j}(z), 2\delta))$ containing z. Let

$$U_j(z) := V_j(z) \cap f^{-n_j}(\mathbb{D}(f^{n_j}(z), \delta)).$$

Then Koebe's Distortion Theorem applies for the map f^{n_j} on $U_i(z)$. In fact, what we need is a bounded distortion for the derivatives taken with respect to the Riemannian metric $d\tau$. This however is a straightforward consequence of Koebe's Theorem (see [MU10b, Section 4.2]). Therefore

$$m_t(U_j(z)) \simeq \lambda^{-n_j} |(f^{n_j})'(z)|_{\tau}^{-t} m_t(\mathbb{D}(f^{n_j}(z),\delta)).$$

Now, since conformal measures are positive on all non–empty open sets relative to J(f), we conclude that for every $\delta > 0$ there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$m_t(\mathbb{D}(w,\delta)) \geq c$$

for every $w \in J(f) \cap B(0, 1/\delta)$. This shows that

(21)
$$m_t(U_j(z)) \simeq \lambda^{-n_j} |(f^{n_j})'(z)|_{\tau}^{-t}$$

for every $z \in J_r(f, \delta)$ and every $j \ge 1$ with comparability constants depending on δ only.

Having this estimate we now can proceed exactly as in [McM00, Theorem 5.1]. If ν_t is any $\eta |f'|_{\tau}^t$ —conformal measure then (21) also holds with ν_t , η instead of m_t , ρ , and with other appropriated constants depending on δ only. Hence, for every $z \in J_r(f, \delta)$,

$$\frac{m_t(U_j(z))}{v_t(U_j(z))} \approx 1$$
 for every $j \ge 1$.

Since in addition $\lim_{j\to\infty} \operatorname{diam}(U_j(z)) = 0$ and all $U_j(z)$, $z \in J_r(f,\delta)$, $j \ge 1$, have shapes of not "too much" distorted balls, we conclude that the measures m_t and v_t are equivalent (mutually absolutely continuous) on $J_r(f,\delta)$. Invoking, (20), we deduce that these two measures are equivalent on $J_r(f)$. This is not the end of the proof yet but the interested reader is referred to the original proof in [McM00].

Recall that the Poincaré's Recurrence Theorem asserts that, given $T: X \to X$ measurable dynamical system preserving a finite measure, for every measurable set $F \subset X$ and almost every point $x \in F$, the point $T^n(x)$ is in F for infinitely many $n \ge 1$. A conformal measure m is called *recurrent* if the conclusion of the Poincaré recurrence theorem holds for it. In the case where the Perron–Frobenius–Ruelle theorem holds then, due to the existence of probability invariant measures, commonly called Gibbs states, equivalent to the conformal measure, the later is always recurrent. By Halmos' Theorem [Hal47], recurrence is equivalent to *conservativity* which means that there does not exist a measurable wandering set of positive measure, i.e. a measurable set W with m(W) > 0 and such that

$$f^{-n}(W)\cap f^{-m}(W)=\emptyset$$

for all $n > m \ge 0$.

Theorem 19. Assume that the transcendental function $f: C \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ has m_t , a $\lambda |f'|_{\tau}^t$ -conformal measure. Then

- m_t is recurrent and this holds if and only if $m_t(J_r(f)) = 1$ or
- m_t -almost every point is in I(f) or its orbit is attracted by $\mathcal{P}(f)$.

Proof. If $m_t(J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f)) = 0$ then the second conclusion holds. So we may assume from now on that $m_t(J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f)) > 0$. Notice that then f is tame and thus there exist $D = \mathbb{D}(w, r)$, a disk centered at some point $w \in J(f)$ and such that

$$\mathbb{D}(w,2r)\cap\mathcal{P}(f)=\emptyset.$$

Assume that there exists $W \subset J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f)$ a wandering set of positive measure. Since all omitted values are in $\mathcal{P}(f)$, there exists N such that

$$W' = f^N(D) \cap W$$

is a wandering set of positive measure. But then $W'' = f^{-N}(W') \cap D$ is a wandering set of positive measure contained in D. Conformality, bounded distortion, and the fact the W'' is wandering, give

$$1 \geq \sum_{n \geq 0} m_t(f^{-n}(W'')) \times m_t(W'') \sum_{n \geq 0} \mathcal{L}_t^n \mathbb{1}(z) \times \frac{m_t(W'')}{m_t(D)} \sum_{n \geq 0} m_t(f^{-n}(D)).$$

The series in the middle is what is usually called the Poincaré series and we see that it is convergent for the exponent t. Now, a standard application of the Borel–Cantelli Lemma shows that a.e. z is in at most finitely many sets $f^{-n}(D)$ or, equivalently, only for finitely many n we have $f^n(z) \in D$. Since this true for every such disk D, it follows that

(22)
$$z \in I(f)$$
 or $f^n(z) \to \mathcal{P}(f)$ for m_t a.e. $z \in J(f)$.

This also shows that $m_t(J_r(f)) = 0$ in this case since, as we have seen in Theorem 18, if $m_t(J_r(f)) > 0$ then m_t a.e. orbit has a dense orbit in J_f which contradicts (22) since f is a tame function.

The other possibility is that $J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f)$ does not contain a wandering set of positive measure. Then m_t is conservative hence recurrent on $J(f) \setminus \mathcal{P}(f)$. Let

$$V_{\varepsilon}(A) := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : dist(z, A) \leq \varepsilon \},$$

$$V_{\varepsilon}^{c}(A) := I(f) \setminus V_{\varepsilon}(A)$$

and consider the open set

$$U_{\varepsilon} = \mathbb{D}(0, 1/\varepsilon) \cap V_{\varepsilon}^{c}(\mathcal{P}(f)) , \quad \varepsilon > 0.$$

If $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough, $U_{\varepsilon} \cap J(f) \neq \emptyset$, and then $m_t(U_{\varepsilon}) > 0$. On the other hand, recurrence implies that

$$m_t(U_{\varepsilon}) = m_t(\{z \in U_{\varepsilon} : f^n(z) \in U_{\varepsilon} \text{ for infinitely many } n's\}).$$

The set of points z such that, for some $\varepsilon > 0$, $z \in U_{\varepsilon}$ and $f^n(z) \in U_{\varepsilon}$ for infinitely many n's is a subset of $J_r(f)$. Therefore, $m_t(J_r(f)) \ge m_t(U_{\varepsilon}) > 0$ and then, by Theorem 18, $m_t(J_r(f)) = 1$. Notice also that then m_t is recurrent on the whole Julia set since $m_t(J(f) \setminus J_r(f)) = 0$.

Every rational function has a t-conformal measure of minimal exponent $t = \delta_p$; see [DU91a]. Shishikura [Shi98] gave the first examples of some polynomials p for which this exponent is maximal, i.e. $\delta_p = 2$. For them the corresponding conformal measures are not recurrent. Up to our best knowledge it is unknown whether there exist polynomials, even rational functions, p with $\delta_p < 2$ and with non-recurrent δ_p -conformal measures. However, there are such quadratic like examples; see Avila-Lyubich [AL08], and the first globally defined, i.e. on the whole complex plane, (transcendental meromorphic) functions having such behavior were produced in [MZ19, Theorem 1.4]. Notice that these examples are even hyperbolic and their number Θ (see Theorem 38) is equal to the minimal exponent δ_p .

Theorem 20 ([MZ19]). There exist disjoint type entire functions $f : \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ of finite order, with $\Theta \in (1,2)$, that do not have any recurrent Θ -conformal measure with conformal factor $\lambda = 1$.

In fact [MZ19, Theorem 1.4] states that these functions do not have Θ -conformal measures supported on the radial Julia set. But this is equivalent to non-recurrence by Theorem 19.

- 4.5. 2-conformal measures. We finally discuss the special case of 2–conformal measures. As already mentioned above, for many transcendental, especially entire, functions the spherical Lebesgue measure m_{sph} of the Julia set is positive and thus it is a natural 2–conformal measure. In this case each of the following possibilities can occur:
 - m_{sph} is recurrent and $m_{sph}(J_r(f)) = 1$.
 - $m_{sph}(I(f) \cap J(f)) = 1$.
 - $m_{sph}(I(f) \cap J(f)) = 0$ and $f^n(z) \to \mathcal{P}(f)$ for m_{sph} -a.e. $z \in \mathbb{C}$.

Let us first discuss the recurrent case for which the postcritically finite map $f(z) = 2\pi i e^z$ is a typical example having the property that $m_{sph}(J_r(f)) = 1$. For this function, the Julia set is the whole plane. From a classical zooming and Lebesgue density argument (see for example the proof of [EL92, Theorem 8]) follows that this always holds provided that the radial set is positively charged.

Proposition 21. Let $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ be a meromorphic function. If m_{sph} is a 2-conformal measure and if $m_{sph}(J_r(f)) > 0$, then $J(f) = \mathbb{C}$.

For the third possibility, i.e. where the escaping set is not charged but where a.e. orbit is attracted by the post–critical set, we have some results due to Eremenko–Lyubich [EL92, Section 7].

Theorem 22 ([EL92]). Let $f \in \mathcal{B}$ be an entire function of finite order having a finite logarithmic singular value. Then $m_{sph}(I(f)) = 0$ and there exists M > 0 such that

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} |f^n(z)| < M \quad \text{for a.e. } z \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Given this result combined with Theorem 19 we see that there are several possibilities. Assume that f satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 22 and that the Julia set

of *f* has positive area. Then, either the spherical Lebesgue measure is supported on the radial Julia set or a.e. orbit is attracted by the post–critical set.

As typical examples we can consider again the exponential family. As already mentioned, $f(z) = 2\pi i e^z$ is a recurrent example. Totally different is $f(z) = e^z$. Misiurewicz showed in [Mi81] that $J(f) = \mathbb{C}$ and Lyubich proved in [Lyu87] that this function is not ergodic. Consequently $m_{sph}(J_r(f)) = 0$ and thus a.e. orbit is attracted by the orbit of 0, the only finite singular value.

Plenty of entire functions have the property $m_{sph}(I(f) \cap J(f)) = 1$ (and $F(f) \neq \emptyset$). Initially, McMullen showed in [McM87] that the Julia set of every function from the sine–family $\alpha \sin(z) + \beta$, $\alpha \neq 0$, has positive area. This result has been generalized in many ways and to many types of entire functions; see [AB12, BC16, Si15, Bw18]. The authors of these papers did not really deal with Julia but with the escaping set and, as a matter of fact, they showed that

(23)
$$area(I(f) \cap J(f)) > 0.$$

Since the escaping set is invariant, it suffices now to normalize properly the spherical Lebesgue measure restricted to I(f) in order to get the required 2–conformal measure that is entirely supported on the escaping set.

5. Perron–Frobenus–Ruelle Theorem, Spectral gap and applications

The whole thermodynamic formalism relies on the transfer operator and its properties. We recall that this operator has been introduced in Definition 15. In fact, this definition treats only the most relevant *geometric potentials*. More general potentials ψ were considered in [MU10b]. They are obtained as a sum of a geometric potential plus an additional Hölder function. This class of potentials has its importance for the multifractal analysis (see the Chapters 8 and 9 of [MU10b]) of conformal measures and their invariant versions. In the present text we restrict ourselves to geometric potentials, so to functions of the form

$$\psi := -t \log |f'| + b - b \circ f$$

for some appropriate function $b: J(f) \to \mathbb{R}$ (or \mathbb{C}). This coboundary is crucial since it allows us to deal with different Riemannian metrics on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. We start by investigating elementary examples to make this transparent.

We already have mentioned in the introduction that the "naive" transfer operator is not always well defined. Let us consider the simplest entire function $f(z) = \lambda e^z$ and a potential $\psi := -t \log |f'|$ without coboundary. Then, for all $w \neq 0$ and parameter t,

$$\mathcal{L}_t 1 \! 1(w) = \sum_{z \in f^{-1}(w)} |f'(z)|^{-t} = \sum_{z \in f^{-1}(w)} |w|^{-t} = +\infty.$$

In other words, this operator is just not defined. This is the point where a coboundary *b* of (24) shows its significance.

We recall that the derivative of a function f with respect to a Riemannian metric $d\sigma = \gamma |dz|$ is given by Formula (3). The associated geometric potential is

$$\psi = -t \log |f'|_{\sigma} = -t \log |f'| + t \log \gamma - t \log \gamma \circ f.$$

Since the Euclidean metric plainly does not work, one can try the spherical metric $d\sigma = |dz|/(1+|z|^2)$ which is another natural choice. Considering again $f(z) = \lambda e^z$, we get

$$\mathcal{L}_t 1 1(w) = \left(\frac{1 + |w|^2}{|w|}\right)^t \sum_{f(z) = w} (1 + |z|^2)^{-t}$$

which, this time, is finite provided that t > 1/2. In fact then, for large w, and with $x_0 = \log |w/\lambda|$,

$$\mathcal{L}_t 1\!\!1(w) \approx |w|^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dy}{(1+|x_0+iy|^2)^t} = |w|^t (1+x_0^2)^{1/2-t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dy}{(1+y^2)^t} < +\infty,$$

but

$$\lim_{w\to\infty} \mathcal{L}_t \mathbb{1}(w) = +\infty.$$

Thus, \mathcal{L}_t is not a bounded operator.

It turns out that for the exponential family and in general for entire functions the logarithmic metric $d\sigma = 1/(1+|z|)$ is best appropriate. This is a natural choice for several reasons. For example, this point of view is used in Nevanlinna's value distribution theory. Also, in the dynamics of entire functions from class \mathcal{B} , Eremenko–Lyubich [EL92] have introduced logarithmic coordinates, which now is a standard tool. Either working in these coordinates or considering derivatives with respect to the logarithmic metric are equivalent things.

5.1. **Growth conditions.** The situation is different for meromorphic functions because of their behavior at poles. If $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is meromorphic and if b is a pole of multiplicity q, which is nothing else than a critical point of multiplicity $q \ge 1$ of f, then

(25)
$$|f'(z)| \times \frac{1}{|z - b|^{q+1}} = \frac{1}{|z - b|^{q(1+1/q)}} \times |f(z)|^{1+1/q} \quad \text{near} \quad b.$$

Motivated by the exponential family λe^z , we introduced in [MU08] and [MU10b] some classes of meromorphic functions for which there are relations between |f'| and |f|. More precisely:

Definition 23 (Rapid derivative growth and dynamical semi–regularity). A meromorphic function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is said to have a rapid derivative growth if and only if there are $\underline{\alpha}_2 > \max\{0, -\alpha_1\}$ and $\kappa > 0$ such that

(26)
$$|f'(z)| \ge \kappa^{-1} (1+|z|)^{\alpha_1} (1+|f(z)|^{\alpha_2})$$

for all finite $z \in J(f) \setminus f^{-1}(\infty)$. A E-hyperbolic and expanding meromorphic function of finite order ρ which satisfies the rapid derivative growth condition is called dynamically semi-regular.

Of course, $f(z) = \lambda e^z$ satisfies (26) with $\alpha_2 \equiv 1$ and $\alpha_1 = 0$. The reader can find many other families in Chapter 2 of [MU10b] which are dynamically semi-regular.

For such functions there is a good choice of the coboundary b or, equivalently, of the Riemannian metric. We recall that we consider metrics of the form (1) and that we frequently use the simpler form of (2), namely $d\tau(z) = |z|^{-\tau}|dz|$. This is possible as soon as the Fatou set is not empty, which is the case for E-hyperbolic functions, since then we can assume without loss of generality that $0 \in F(f)$ and then ignore what happens near the origin.

If *f* has balanced growth then, setting $\hat{\tau} = \alpha_1 + \tau$,

$$(27) |z|^{\hat{\tau}} \le |z|^{\hat{\tau}} |f(z)|^{\underline{\alpha}_2 - \tau} \le |f'(z)|_{\tau} \le |z|^{\hat{\tau}} |f(z)|^{\overline{\alpha}_2 - \tau}, \quad z \in J(f) \setminus f^{-1}(\infty),$$

the right hand inequality being true under the weaker condition (26). Therefore, for a dynamically semi–regular function f, we get the estimate

$$\mathcal{L}_t 1 (w) \le \frac{1}{|w|^{\frac{\alpha_2}{2} - \tau}} \sum_{z \in f^{-1}(w)} |z|^{-\hat{\tau}t} , w \in J(f).$$

This last sum, which also is called Borel sum, is very well known in Nevanlinna theory. The order ρ of f is precisely the critical exponent for this sum. Hence, if f has finite order ρ and if $\hat{\tau}t > \rho$, then it is a convergent series and in fact one has the crucial following property (see Proposition 3.6 in [MU10b]).

Proposition 24. If f is satisfies the rapid derivative growth condition, if $0 \in F(f)$, and if $\tau \in (0, \underline{\alpha}_2)$ then, for every $t > \rho/\hat{\tau}$, there exists M_t such that

(28)
$$\mathcal{L}_t 1\!\!1(w) \le M_t \quad and \quad \lim_{w \to \infty} \mathcal{L}_t 1\!\!1(w) = 0 \quad , \quad w \in J(f) ,$$

Once having property (28), one can develop a full thermodynamic formalism provided that the function f is E-hyperbolic and expanding. The first issue is again about the existence of conformal measures. It is taken care of by Theorem 17. Therefore, for E-hyperbolic and expanding meromorphic functions satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 24, we have good conformal measures for all $t > \Theta$.

We recall that dynamically semi-regular functions have been introduced in Definition ??. The following Perron–Frobenius–Ruelle Theorem is part of Theorem 1.1 in [MU10a] and Theorem 5.15 of [MU10b], which is true for a class of more general potentials.

Theorem 25. If $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is a dynamically semi-regular meromorphic function then, for every $t > \frac{\rho}{\hat{\tau}}$, the following are true.

- (a) The topological pressure $P(t) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \mathcal{L}_t^n(\mathbb{1})(w)$ exists and is independent of $w \in I(f)$.
- (b) There exists a unique $\lambda |f'|_{\tau}^t$ -conformal measure m_t and necessarily $\lambda = e^{P(t)}$.
- (c) There exists a unique Gibbs state μ_t of the parameter t, where being Gibbs means that μ_t is a Borel probability f-invariant measure absolutely continuous with respect to m_t . Moreover, the measures m_t and μ_t are equivalent and are both ergodic and supported on the conical limit set of f.

(d) The Radon–Nikodym derivative $\psi_t = d\mu_t/dm_t : J(f) \to [0, +\infty)$ is a continuous nowhere vanishing bounded function satisfying $\lim_{z\to\infty} \psi_t(z) = 0$.

Starting from this result, much more can be said but under the stronger growth condition (29). Namely, the Spectral Gap property along with its applications:

- The Spectral Gap [MU10b, Theorem 6.5]

Theorem 26. If f is a dynamically semi-regular function and if $t > \frac{\rho}{\hat{\tau}}$, then the following are true.

- (a) The number 1 is a simple isolated eigenvalue of the operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_t := e^{-P(t)}\mathcal{L}_t : \mathbb{H}_\beta \to \mathbb{H}_\beta$, where $\beta \in (0,1]$ is arbitrary and \mathbb{H}_β is the Banach space of all complex-valued bounded Hölder continuous defined on $J(f)_f$, equipped with the corresponding Hölder norm. The rest of the spectrum of \mathcal{L}_t is contained in a disk with radius strictly smaller than 1. In particular, the operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_t : \mathbb{H}_\beta \to \mathbb{H}_\beta$ is quasi-compact.
- (b) More precisely: there exists a bounded linear operator $S: \mathbb{H}_{\beta} \to \mathbb{H}_{\beta}$ such that

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_t = Q_1 + S_t$$

where $Q_1: \mathbb{H}_{\beta} \to \mathbb{C}\rho$ is a projector on the eigenspace $\mathbb{C}\rho$, given by the formula

$$Q_1(g) = \left(\int g \, dm_{\phi}\right) \rho_t,$$

$$Q_1 \circ S = S \circ Q_1 = 0$$
 and

$$||S^n||_{\beta} \le C\xi^n$$

for some constant C > 0, some constant $\xi \in (0,1)$ and all $n \ge 1$.

- [MU10b, Corollary 6.6]

Corollary 27. With the setting, notation, and hypothesis of Theorem 26 we have, for every integer $n \ge 1$, that $\hat{\mathcal{L}}^n = Q_1 + S^n$ and that $\hat{\mathcal{L}}^n(g)$ converges to $(\int g \, dm_\phi) \rho$ exponentially fast when $n \to \infty$. More precisely,

$$\left\|\hat{\mathcal{L}}^n(g) - \left(\int g \, dm_\phi\right) \rho\right\|_{\beta} = \|S^n(g)\|_{\beta} \le C\xi^n \|g\|_{\beta} \quad , \quad g \in H_\beta.$$

- Exponential Decay of Correlations [MU10b, Theorem 6.16]

Theorem 28. With the setting, notation, and hypothesis of Theorem 26 there exists a large class of functions ψ_1 such that for all $\psi_2 \in L^1(m_t)$ and all integers $n \ge 1$, we have that

$$\left| \int (\psi_1 \circ f^n \cdot \psi_2) d\mu_t - \int \psi_1 d\mu_t \int \psi_2 d\mu_t \right| \leq O(\xi^n),$$

where $\xi \in (0,1)$ comes from Theorem 26(b), while the big "O" constant depends on both ψ_1 and ψ_2 .

- Central Limit Theorem [MU10b, Theorem 6.17]

Theorem 29. With the setting, notation, and hypothesis of Theorem 26 there exists a large class of functions ψ such that the sequence of random variables

$$\frac{\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \psi \circ f^j - n \int \psi \, d\mu_t}{\sqrt{n}}$$

converges in distribution, with respect to the measure μ_t , to the Gauss (normal) distribution $\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma^2)$ with some $\sigma > 0$. More precisely, for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_t \left(\left\{ z \in J(f)_f : \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \psi \circ f^j(z) - n \int \psi \, d\mu_t}{\sqrt{n}} \le t \right\} \right) =$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sigma \sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^t \exp\left(-\frac{u^2}{2\sigma^2} \right) du.$$

- Variational Principle [MU10b, Theorem 6.25]

Theorem 30. With the setting, notation, and hypothesis of Theorem 26, we have that

$$P(t) = \sup \left\{ h_{\mu}(f) - t \int_{J(f)} \log |f'|_1 d\mu \right\},\,$$

where the supremum is taken over all Borel probability f-invariant ergodic measures μ with $\int_{J(f)} \log |f'|_1 d\mu > -\infty$. Furthermore, $\int_{J(f)} \log |f'|_1 d\mu_t > -\infty$ and μ_t is the only one among such measures satisfying the equality

$$P(t) = h_{\mu}(f) - t \int_{I(f)} \log |f'|_1 d\mu.$$

In the common terminology this means that the f-invariant measure μ_t is the only equilibrium state of the potential $-t \log |f'|_1$.

In [MU10b] appears also a stronger symmetric growth condition. It is the following and it was used in order to get more geometric informations out of the thermodynamical formalism. The principal application of it was to obtain a Bowen's Formula expressing the hyperbolic dimension as the zero of the topological pressure function.

Definition 31 (Balanced growth and dynamical regularity). A meromorphic function $f: \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is balanced if and only if there are $\kappa > 0$, a bounded function $\alpha_2: J(f) \cap \mathbb{C} \to [\underline{\alpha}_2, \overline{\alpha}_2] \subset (0, \infty)$ and $\alpha_1 > -\underline{\alpha}_2 = -\inf \alpha_2$ such that

(29)
$$\kappa^{-1}(1+|z|)^{\alpha_1}(1+|f(z)|^{\alpha_2(z)}) \le |f'(z)| \le \kappa(1+|z|)^{\alpha_1}(1+|f(z)|^{\alpha_2(z)})$$

for all finite $z \in J(f) \setminus f^{-1}(\infty)$. A balanced E-hyperbolic and expanding meromorphic function of finite order ρ is called dynamically regular.

In this stronger symmetric condition it is important that α_2 is a function since (25) shows that at poles of a meromorphic function this exponent α_2 does depend on the multiplicity q. Typical meromorphic functions that satisfy the balanced growth

condition are all elliptic functions. Again, many other families appear in Chapter 2 of [MU10b].

5.2. **Geometry of tracts.** For entire functions the thermodynamical formalism is known to hold in a much larger setting than the functions that satisfy the growth conditions since we now have a quite optimal approach of [MU17]. It shows that the geometry of the tracts determines the behavior of the transfer operator. Let us briefly recall and explain this now.

As it was explained right after the Definition 9, in order to study the dynamics of a disjoint type entire function f near the Julia set, only its restriction to the tracts is relevant. Let us here consider the simplest case where $f \in \mathcal{B}$ has only one tract Ω . Remember that $f_{|\Omega} = e^{\varphi^{-1}}$. A simple calculation gives

$$|f'|_1^{-1} = \frac{|\varphi'|}{|\varphi|} \circ \varphi^{-1}$$

in Ω . This gives that

(30)
$$\mathcal{L}_{t} \mathbb{1}(w) = \sum_{\xi \in \exp^{-1}(w)} \left| \frac{\varphi'(\xi)}{\varphi(\xi)} \right|^{t}$$

entirely does depend on the conformal representation φ of the tract and thus entirely on the tract Ω itself. In fact, the operator \mathcal{L}_t does depend on the geometry of Ω at infinity. In order to study the behavior of this operator, one considers the rescaled maps

$$\varphi_T := \frac{1}{|\varphi(T)|} \varphi \circ T : Q_1 \longrightarrow \frac{1}{|\varphi(T)|} \Omega_T$$

where Q_T , especially Q_1 , has been defined in (11) and where for $T \ge 1$,

$$\Omega_T := \varphi(Q_T).$$

These maps behave especially well as soon as the tract has some nice geometric properties.

5.2.1. Hölder tracts. Loosely speaking, a Hölder domain is the image of the unit disk by a Hölder map. But such domains are clearly bounded whereas logarithmic tracts are unbounded domains. Following [My18], we therefore consider natural exhaustions of the tract by Hölder domains and a scaling invariant notion of Hölder maps. A conformal map $h: Q_1 \to U$ is called (H, α) -Hölder if and only if

(31)
$$|h(z_1) - h(z_2)| \le H|h'(1)||z_1 - z_2|^{\alpha}$$
 for all $z_1, z_2 \in Q_1$.

Definition 32. The tract Ω is Hölder, if and only if (12) holds and the maps φ_T are uniformly Hölder, i.e. there exists (H, α) such that for every $T \ge 1$ the map φ_T satisfies (31).

Quasidisks and John domains serve as good examples of Hölder tracts.

5.2.2. Negative spectrum. The boundary $\partial\Omega$ of a tract is an analytic curve. However, seen from infinity such a boundary may appear quite fractal. In order to quantify this property, we associate to a tract a version of integral means spectrum (see [Ma98] and [Po92] for the classical case). In order to do so, let $h:Q_2\to U$ be a conformal map onto a bounded domain U and define

(32)
$$\beta_h(r,t) := \frac{\log \int_I |h'(r+iy)|^t dy}{\log 1/r} , r \in (0,1) \text{ and } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The integral is taken over $I = [-2, -1] \cup [1, 2]$ since this corresponds to the part of the boundary of U that is important for our purposes.

Applying this notion to the rescalings φ_T and then letting $T \to \infty$ leads to desired integral means of the tract Ω ,

(33)
$$\beta_{\infty}(t) := \limsup_{T \to +\infty} \beta_{\varphi_T}(1/T, t),$$

and to the associated function

(34)
$$b_{\infty}(t) := \beta_{\infty}(t) - t + 1 \quad , \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

It turns out that the function b_{∞} is convex, thus continuous, with $b_{\infty}(0) = 1$ and with $b_{\infty}(2) \le 0$. Consequently, the function b_{∞} has at least one zero in (0,2] and we can introduce a number $\Theta \in (0,2]$ by the formula

(35)
$$\Theta := \inf\{t > 0 : b_{\infty}(t) = 0\} = \inf\{t > 0 : b_{\infty}(t) \le 0\}.$$

We only considered here the case of a single tract and the adaption for functions in \mathcal{D} having finitely many tracts is straightforward (see [MU17]).

Definition 33. A function $f \in \mathcal{D}$ has negative spectrum if and only if, for every tract,

$$b_{\infty}(t) < 0$$
 for all $t > \Theta$.

A relation of the Hölder tracts property and the negative spectrum property is provided by the following.

Proposition 34 (Proposition 5.6 in [MU17]). A function $f \in \mathcal{B}$ has negative spectrum if it has only finitely many tracts and all these tracts are Hölder.

5.2.3. Back to the thermodynamic formalism and its applications. From now on we assume that f is a function of the class \mathcal{D} and has negative spectrum. Let Θ be again the parameter introduced in (35).

Starting from the formula (30), one can express the transfer operator in terms of integral means (see [MU17, Proposition 4.3]) in the following way:

(36)
$$\mathcal{L}_{t} 1\!\!1(w) \simeq (\log |w|)^{1-t} \left\{ \int_{-1}^{1} \left| \varphi'_{\log |w|} (1+iy) \right|^{t} dy + \sum_{n \geq 1} 2^{n \left(1-t+\beta_{\varphi_{2^{n} \log |w|}} (2^{-n},t)\right)} \right\}$$

for every $t \ge 0$ and every $w \in \Omega$. The series appearing in this formula may diverge. Nevertheless, this formula very well describes the behavior of the transfer operator. It allows us to develop the thermodynamic formalism if the negative spectrum

assumption holds. The first step is to verify again the conclusion of Proposition 24 which, we recall, is crucial for establishing the existence of conformal measures. Then one can adapt the arguments of [MU10b] to get the following version of the Perron-Frobenius–Ruelle Theorem ([MU17, Theorem 1.2]).

Theorem 35. Let $f \in \mathcal{D}$ be a function having negative spectrum and let $\Theta \in (0,2]$ be the smallest zero of b_{∞} . Then, the following hold:

- For every $t > \Theta$, the whole thermodynamic formalism, along with its all usual consequences holds: the Perron-Frobenius-Ruelle Theorem, the Spectral Gap property along with its applications: Exponential Mixing, Exponential Decay of Correlations and Central Limit Theorem.
- For every $t < \Theta$, the series defining the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_t diverges.

In many cases, by using a standard bounded distortion argument, this result and all its consequences can be extended beyond the class of disjoint type to larger subclasses of hyperbolic functions. For example, it does hold for all hyperbolic functions in class \mathcal{S} having finitely many tracts and no necessarily being of disjoint type. This is for example the case for functions of finite order that satisfy (12). The later is a very general kind of quasi–symmetry condition.

Question 36. *Is the assumption* (12) *necessary?*

An important feature of the Hölder tract property is is that it is a quasiconformal invariant notion. This has several important applications. Let us just mention one of them.

Theorem 37 (Theorem 1.3 in [MU17]). Let \mathcal{M} be an analytic family of entire functions in class \mathcal{S} . Assume that there is a function $g \in \mathcal{M}$ that has finitely many tracts over infinity and that all these tracts are Hölder. Then every function $f \in \mathcal{M}$ has negative spectrum and the thermodynamic formalism holds for every hyperbolic map from \mathcal{M} .

Theorem 35 gives no information at the transition parameter $t = \Theta$. For all classical functions the transfer operator is divergent at Θ , and thus the pressure $P(\Theta) = +\infty$. This then implies that the pressure function has a zero $h > \Theta$. Functions with a completely different behavior have been found recently in [MZ19].

Theorem 38 ([MZ19]). For every $1 < \Theta < 2$ there exists an entire function $f \in \mathcal{B}$ with the following properties:

- (a) The entire function f is of finite order and of disjoint type.
- (b) The corresponding transfer operator has transition parameter Θ .
- (c) The transfer operator is convergent at Θ and the property (28) holds.
- (d) Consequently, the Perron–Frobenius–Ruelle Theorem 25 and its consequences hold at $t = \Theta$.
- (e) The topological pressure at $t = \Theta$ is strictly negative.
- (f) Consequently, the topological pressure of f has no zero.

For the special case of $\Theta = 2$, the reader can find examples in [Re14].

Here are two more questions related to this section. First of all, we have seen in Proposition 34 that the Hölder tract property implies negative spectrum. For some special functions, Poincaré linearizer, both properties coincide ([MU17, Theorem 7.8]).

Question 39. Are all tracts of any entire function in class \mathcal{B} with negative spectrum Hölder?

For Hölder tracts with corresponding Hölder exponent $\alpha \in (1/2, 1]$ it is known that $\Theta < 2$.

Question 40. What abut the general case? More precisely, if Ω is a Hölder tract with Hölder exponent $\alpha \in (0,1]$, do we then have that $\Theta < 2$? If so, this would be an analogue of the Jones–Makarov Theorem [JM95] which states that the Hausdorff dimension of the boundary of an α –Hölder domain is less than two, furthermore, less than $2 - C\alpha$ where C > 0 is a universal constant.

6. Hyperbolic dimension and Bowen's Formula

The Hausdorff dimension, and in fact all other fractal dimensions, of the Julia set of meromorphic functions have been studied a lot. The interested reader can consult the survey by Stallard [St08]. Here we focus on the hyperbolic dimension.

6.1. **Estimates for the hyperbolic dimension.** We recall that the *hyperbolic dimension* $HD_{hyp}(f)$ of the function f is the supremum of the Hausdorff dimensions of all forward invariant compact sets on which the functions is expanding. Right from the definition,

$$\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f) \leq \mathrm{HD}(J(f)).$$

It has recently been observed by Avila-Lyubich in [AL15] that there are polynomials for which there is strict inequality between these two dimension.

Theorem 41 ([AL15]). *There exists a Feigenbaum polynomial p for which*

$$HD_{hyp}(p) < HD(J(p)) = 2.$$

Although this result being rather exceptional for rational functions, it appears quite often for transcendental, especially entire, functions. Stallard [St90] observed this implicitly and Urbański–Zdunik in [UZ03].

Theorem 42 ([St90], [UZ03]). There are (even hyperbolic) entire functions f of finite order and of class S for which

$$HD_{hyp}(f) < HD(J(f)) = 2.$$

The equality HD(J(f)) = 2 goes back to McMullen's result [McM87]. In either case, of rational functions as well as of transcendental functions, we do not know any such example with the Hausdorff dimension of the Julia set equal to 2. Thus:

Question 43. *Is there an entire or meromorphic function* $f \in \mathcal{B}$ *with with a logarithmic tract over infinity and such that*

$$\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f) < \mathrm{HD}(J(f)) < 2$$
 ?

While the hyperbolic dimension of a meromorphic functions is often strictly smaller then the dimension of its Julia set. However, it can not be too small as long as the function has a logarithmic tract over infinity. In fact Barański, Karpińska and Zdunik [BKZ09] obtained the following very general result.

Theorem 44 ([BKZ09]). *The hyperbolic dimension of the Julia set of a meromorphic function with a logarithmic tract over infinity is greater than 1.*

For $f_{\lambda}(z) = \lambda e^z$, Karpinska [Ka99] showed that the hyperbolic dimension goes to one as λ goes to zero. In this sense, the above estimate is sharp. However, if the logarithmic tracts have some regularity then one gets more information, see [My18].

Theorem 45 ([My18]). If a meromorphic map f has a logarithmic tract over infinity and if this tract is Hölder, then

$$\text{HD}_{\text{hyp}}(f) \ge \Theta \ge 1$$

where Θ is the number defined in (35).

In this result, one can not expect strict inequality except if $\Theta = 1$. Indeed, for every given $\Theta \in (1,2)$ there is an entire function f with Hölder tract such that $HD_{hyp}(f) = \Theta$ (see [MZ19]). On the other hand, the paper [My18] provides a sufficient condition, expressed in terms of the boundary of the tract, which implies strict inequality.

The hyperbolic dimension can also be maximal. This has been shown by Rempe-Guillen [Re14]. He first constructs a local version, called now model, and then approximates it by entire functions. His approximation result is a very precise version of Arakelyan's approximation and is of its own interest.

Theorem 46 ([Re14]). There exists a transcendental entire function f of disjoint type and finite order such that $HD_{hyp}(f) = 2$.

6.2. **Bowen's Formula.** The pressure function $t \mapsto P_{\tau}(t)$ is convex, hence continuous and, when the map f is expanding, it is also strictly decreasing. Consequently, there exists a unique zero h of P_{τ} provided

$$P_{\tau}(t) \ge 0$$
 for some t .

It goes back to Bowen's paper [Bo79] that this zero is of crucial importance when studying fractal dimensions of limit and Julia sets. Bowen showed that this number h is the Hausdorff dimension of the limit set for any co-compact quasifuchsian group. His result extends easily to the case of of Julia sets of hyperbolic rational functions. Since then his formula has been generalized in many various ways and it became transparent that that for transcendental functions his formula detects the hyperbolic dimension rather than the Hausdorff dimension of the entire Julia sets.

The first result of this kind for transcendental functions is, up to our knowledge, was obtained in [UZ03] and [UZ04] while the most general Bowen's Formula for transcendental functions is due to Barański, Karpinska and Zdunik [BKZ12]. Here again, we only formulate a version for E–hyperbolic functions while their result holds in much bigger generality.

Theorem 47 ([BKZ12]). For every E-hyperbolic meromorphic function $f \in \mathcal{B}$ we have $P_{sph}(2) \leq 0$ and

$$\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f) = \mathrm{HD}(J_r(f)) = \inf\left\{t > 0 ; \; \mathrm{P}_{sph}(t) \le 0\right\}.$$

We recall that the authors showed the existence of the spherical pressure (Theorem 12) and that there exists Θ such that the pressure is finite for all $t > \Theta$ and infinite for all $t < \Theta$. If $P_{sph}(\Theta) \ge 0$, then the pressure has a smallest zero $h \ge \Theta$ and this number h turns out to be the hyperbolic dimension. Otherwise, so if $P_{sph}(\Theta) < 0$, then $HD_{hyp}(f) = \Theta$ and in fact such possibility does happen (Theorem 38).

Other versions of Bowen's formula, with pressure taken with respect to adapted Riemannian metrics, still of the form (1), are contained in [MU08, MU10b, MU17] and also a version for random dynamics of transcendental functions in [MU14] and [UZ18]. All these papers contain many other results related to Bowen's formula and formed an important step between [UZ03], [UZ04] and [BKZ09].

7. Real Analyticity of Fractal Dimensions

Bowen's Formula determines the hyperbolic dimension of a given "sufficiently hyperbolic" meromorphic function f. But

what happens to this dimension when the map f varies in an analytic family?

For rational functions, this has been explored in detail. In contrast to the case of entire functions, the radial and Julia sets of a hyperbolic rational function coincide and consequently also do the corresponding dimensions. Therefore, one is naturally interested in the behavior of the map

$$f \longmapsto HD(J(f)).$$

In 1982, Ruelle [Rue82] positively confirmed a conjecture of Sullivan and showed that the Hausdorff dimension of the Julia set of hyperbolic rational functions depends real–analytically on the map. The hyperbolicity hypothesis is essential here; see [Shi98, Remark 1.4] and also [DSZ97].

The first result on analytic variation of the hyperbolic dimension of transcendental functions is due to Urbański and Zdunik [UZ03] and concerns the exponential family λe^z . Since then this property has been obtained for many families of dynamically regular functions ([MU08, SU14] and [MU10b]; the last of these papers treating also real analyticity of appropriate multifractal spectra; for entire functions in class \mathcal{D} see [MU17]). For the same kind of families, such analyticity is also true in the realm of random dynamics; see [MUZ16].

Instead of presenting a complete overview of all relevant, sometimes quite technical, results we now describe the general framework followed by two representative methods and results.

Similarly as the hyperbolicity hypothesis for rational functions, there are a number of conditions, in a sense necessary, needed to expect real analytic variation of the hyperbolic dimension in the transcendental case. They can be summarized as follows.

- \mathcal{F} is an analytic family of meromorphic functions. The reader simply can assume that $\mathcal{F} = \{f_{\lambda} = \lambda f : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ where f is a given meromorphic function and Λ an open subset of \mathbb{C}^* . Clearly there are more general settings. For example, in the case of entire functions in class \mathcal{S} there is a natural notion of analytic family due to Eremenko–Lyubich [EL92]; they are in particular always finite dimensional.
- The functions of $\mathcal F$ are E-hyperbolic and expanding.
- The family $\mathcal F$ is structurally stable in the sense of holomorphic motions.

In most results the holomorphic motion is also assumed to have some uniform behavior which is for example implied by a condition called bounded deformation [MU10b].

The last commonly used hypothesis is that the full thermodynamic formalism applies. Here appears a crucial fact which is specific to the transcendental case. The transfer operator of a transcendental function is usually not defined for small parameters t > 0. Let us follow the notation used in Theorem 35 and call again Θ the transition parameter. In fact, one must rather write Θ_f since this number can depend on a particular function f from a given family \mathcal{F} .

- The thermodynamic formalism holds for the functions in \mathcal{F} with constant transition parameter $\Theta = \Theta_{f_{\lambda'}}$, $\lambda \in \Lambda$.

In particular, Bowen's Formula applies to the functions we consider here and thus two cases appear: for $f \in \mathcal{F}$, either

(37)
$$HD_{hyp}(f) > \Theta \quad \text{or} \quad HD_{hyp}(f) = \Theta.$$

The first analyticity result we present here is due to Skorulski–Urbański obtained in [SU14].

Theorem 48 ([SU14]). Suppose that $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{C}$ is an open set, $\mathcal{F} = \{f_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ is an analytic family of meromorphic functions and that, for some $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$, $f_{\lambda_0} : \mathbb{C} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is a dynamically regular meromorphic function with $\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}} \left(f_{\lambda_0} \right) > \Theta_{f_{\lambda_0}}$ and which belongs to class S. Then the function

$$\lambda \longmapsto HD(J_r(f_{\lambda}))$$

is real—analytic in some open neighborhood of λ_0 .

Notice that here the main hypotheses are only imposed on the function f_{λ_0} and not on all functions in a neighborhood of it. The authors obtained this result by associating to the globally defined functions locally defined iterated functions systems (IFS). This is possible by employing so called nice sets whose existence in the transcendental case is due to Doobs [Do11] and which have been initially brought to complex dynamics by Rivera–Letelier in [Riv07] and Przytycki and Rivera–Letelier in [PrRL07]. An open connected set $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ is called nice if and only if every connected component of $f^{-n}(U)$ is either contained in U or disjoint from U. If U is disjoint from the post–singular set, then one can consider all possible holomorphic inverse branches of iterates of f and the properties of the nice set imply that the inverse branches that land in U for the first time define a good countable alphabet conformal

IFS in the sense of [MU96] and [MauUrb03]. It turns out that the limit set of this IFS has the same dimension as the hyperbolic dimension of f [SU14, Theorem 3.4]. Thus it suffices to consider IFSs. The later have been extensively studied [MauUrb03] providing many useful tools, and, especially, developing the full thermodynamic formalism, and introducing the concepts of regular, strongly regular, co-finitely regular and irregular conformal IFSs. One of the greatest challenges to apply Theorem 48 is to show that $\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}\left(f_{\lambda_0}\right) > \Theta_{f_{\lambda_0}}$. In terms of the associated conformal IFSs this means that the IFS coming from f_{λ_0} is strongly regular.

The common underlying strategy for establishing real analytic variation of Hausdorff dimension of limit sets of conformal IFSs, see [UZ03, MU08, MU10b, MU17] for ex., is to complexify the setting and to apply Kato–Rellich Perturbation Theorem. The later is possible thank's to the spectral gap property which means that $\exp(P(t))$ is a leading isolated simple eigenvalue of the transfer operator and the rest of the spectrum of this operator is contained in a disk centered at 0 whose radius is strictly smaller than $\exp(P(t))$. An alternative powerful strategy is used in [MUZ16]. It is based on Birkhoff's approach [Bir57] to the Perron–Frobenius Theorem via positive cones. This method has been successfully applied in various contexts. The paper [MUZ16] which deals with random dynamics, is based on ideas from Rugh's paper [Rug08] who used complexified cones. This powerful method works well as soon as appropriate invariant cones are found and strict contraction of the transfer operator in the appropriate Hilbert metric has been shown. The following is a particular result in [MUZ16].

Theorem 49 ([MUZ16]). Let $f_{\eta}(z) = \eta e^z$ and let $a \in (\frac{1}{3e}, \frac{2}{3e})$ and $0 < r < r_{max}, r_{max} > 0$. Suppose that $\eta_1, \eta_2, ...$ are i.i.d. random variables uniformly distributed in $\mathbb{D}(a, r)$. Let $J_{\eta_1, \eta_2, ...}$ denote the Julia set of the sequence of compositions

$$f_{\eta_n} \circ f_{\eta_{n-1}} \circ \ldots \circ f_{\eta_2} \circ f_{\eta_1} : \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \quad n \geq 1,$$

and let

$$J_r(\eta_1, \eta_2, ...) = \left\{ z \in J_{\eta_1, \eta_2, ...} : \liminf_{n \to \infty} |f_{\eta_n} \circ ... \circ f_{\eta_1}(z)| < +\infty \right\}$$

be the radial Julia set of $\{f_{\eta_n} \circ ... \circ f_{\eta_1}\}_{n\geq 1}$. Then, the Hausdorff dimension of $J_r(\eta_1, \eta_2, ...)$ is almost surely constant and depends real-analytically on the parameters (a, r) provided that r_{max} is sufficiently small.

In contrast to the case of hyperbolic rational functions, analytic variation of the hyperbolic dimension can fail in the class of hyperbolic entire functions of bounded type. This has been recently proved in [MZ19].

Theorem 50 ([MZ19]). There exists a holomorphic family $\mathcal{F} = \{f_{\lambda} = \lambda \ f \ , \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*\}$ of finite order entire functions in class \mathcal{B} such that the functions $f_{\lambda}, \ \lambda \in (0,1]$, are all in the same hyperbolic component of the parameter space but the function

$$\lambda \mapsto \operatorname{HypDim}(f_{\lambda})$$

is not analytic in (0,1].

In order to obtain this result, the authors exploited the dichotomy of (37). In fact, all positive analyticity results use, sometimes implicitly like in Theorem 49, the assumption $\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f) > \Theta$. Using the formula (36) for the transfer operator, Mayer and Zdunik where able to construct in [MZ19] entire functions for which $\mathrm{HD}_{\mathrm{hyp}}(f) = \Theta$, so obtaining the very special case of equality in (37). Moreover, among these functions there are some that have strictly negative pressure at Θ which is the key point not only for Theorem 50 but also for the absence of recurrent conformal measures in Theorem 20.

8. Beyond hyperbolicity

For many kinds of non-hyperbolic holomorphic/conformal dynamical systems various forms of thermodynamical formalism have been also successfully developed and usually much earlier than for transcendental dynamics. This is the case for rational functions and generalized polynomial-like mappings having certain type of critical points in the Julia set so that the functions are no longer hyperbolic but sufficient expansion is maintained. Most notably this is so for parabolic rational functions, subexpanding rational functions, and most generally, for non-recurrent rational functions and topological Collet–Eckmann rational functions; see ex. citeGPS90, [P90], [DU91a], [DU92], [DU91b], [DMNU98], [ADU93], [DU91e], [DU91d], [DU91c], [U94], [U97], [P98], [PrRL07], [PrRL11], [AL15], [AL08], [P18], [SU03], [SU03], and the references therein. Note that some of these papers such as [P90], [DU91c] and [P18] for ex. deal with all rational functions, in particular with no restrictions on critical points at all.

But there is a substantial difference with the hyperbolic case. Except perhaps [DU91c] and [P90], the Perron–Frobenius (transfer) operator for the original system is then virtually of no use - no change of Riemaniann metric seems to work. The most relevant questions are then about the structure of conformal measures, most notably, their existence, uniqueness, and atomlessness, and about Borel probability invariant measures absolutely continuous with respect such conformal measures, their existence, uniqueness and stochastic properties. Also, application of such results to study the fractal structure of Julia sets.

Similarly as for non–expanding rational functions, also for non–hyperbolic non–expanding transcendental, entire and meromorphic, functions some forms of thermodynamic formalism have been developed. For the papers coping with critical points in the Julia sets, which is closest to rational functions, see for ex. [KU03], [KS08b]. One class of trancendental meromorphic functions deserves here special attention. These are elliptic (doubly periodic) meromorphic functions. The first fully developed account of thermodynamic formalism for all elliptic functions and Hölder continuous potentials (satisfying some additional natural hypotheses) was presented in [MU05]. Up to our best knowledge all other contributions to thermodynamic formalism for elliptic functions deal with geometric potentials of the form $-t \log |f'|$. We would like to mention in this context the paper [KU04], and, especially, the book [KU20], which provides an extensive and fairly complete account of thermodynamic

formalism for many special, but quite large, classes of elliptic functions with some sufficiently strong expanding features.

The main difficulty and main point of interest in the classes of meromorphic functions discussed in the last paragraph were caused by critical points lying in the Julia sets. Going beyond critical points, there are visible two directions of research. Both of them deal with transcendental entire functions where there are logarithmic singularities, in the form of asymptotic values, in the Julia sets.

One of them was initiated in [UZ07] dealing with exponential functions λe^z , where 0, the asymptotic value, was assumed to escape to infinity sufficiently fast. The existence and uniqueness of conformal measures and the existence and uniqueness of Borel probability invariant measures absolutely continuous with respect to those conformal measures were proved therein. Its follow up was the paper [UZ18] dealing with analogous classes of functions but iterated randomly. The full (random) thermodynamic formalism with respect to random conformal and invariant measures was laid down and developed therein.

The second direction of research initiated and developed in [MU10a] aimed to analyze the contribution of non–recurrent logarithmic singularities. Indeed, the paper [MU10a] by Mayer–Urbański considers the class of meromorphic functions with polynomial Schwarzian derivatives. For example the tangent family belongs to this class and in general such functions have no critical points and they have only finitely many logarithmic singularities. A surprising outcome of this paper was that the behavior of invariant measures absolutely continuous with respect to conformal measures did depend on the order of the function.

Theorem 51. Let $f: \hat{\mathbb{C}} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ be a meromorphic function f of polynomial Schwarzian derivative and assume that it is semi-hyperbolic in the following sense:

- All the asymptotic values are finite.
- The asymptotic values that belong to the Fatou set belong to attracting components.
- The asymptotic values that belong to the Julia set have bounded and non-recurrent forward orbits.

Let h := HD(J(f)).

Then, a Patterson–Sullivan typ construction provides an atomless h–conformal measure and this measure is weakly metrically exact, hence ergodic and conservative. Moreover, there exists a σ –finite invariant measure μ absolutely continuous with respect to m and this measure

$$\mu$$
 is finite if and only if $h > 3\frac{\rho}{\rho+1}$

where $\rho = \rho(f)$ is the order of the function f. If μ is finite, then the dynamical systems (f, μ) it generates is metrically exact and, in consequence, its Rokhlin's natural extension is K-mixing.

Notice that $3\frac{\rho}{\rho+1} \ge 2$ if and only if the order $\rho \ge 2$. Consequently the measure μ is most often infinite. However, in the case of the tangent family, which is just one specific example among others, this invariant measure can be finite.

References

- [Aa97] J. Aaronson. An Introduction to Infinite Ergodic Theory. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 50, 1997. 4.3
- [ADU93] J. Aaronson, M. Denker, M. urbański, Ergodic theory for Markov fibered systems and parabolic rational maps. Transactions of A.M.S. 337 (1993), 495–548. 8
- [AB12] M. Aspenberg and W. Bergweiler. *Entire functions with Julia sets of positive measure*. Math. Ann. 352 (2012), no. 1, 27–54. 4.5
- [AL08] A. Avila and M. Lyubich. *Hausdorff dimension and conformal measures of Feigenbaum Julia sets.* J. of the AMS 21, 305–363, 2008. 4.4, 8
- [AL15] A. Avila and M. Lyubich. Lebesgue measure of Feigenbaum Julia sets. Preprint 2015. 6.1, 41, 8
- [Ba95] K. Barański. *Hausdorff dimension and measures on julia sets of some meromorphic maps.* Fundamenta Mathematicae, 147(3):239–260, 1995. 1
- [Ba07] K. Barański. Trees and hairs for some hyperbolic entire maps of finite order. Math. Z., 257(1):33–59, 2007. 3.3, 3.3
- [BFJK] K. Barański, N. Fagella, X. Jarque, and B. Karpińska. Fatou components and singularities of meromorphic functions. Proc. of the Royal Society of Edinburgh (2) 150, 633–654, 2020. 3.2
- [BK07] K. Barański and B. Karpińska. *Coding trees and boundaries of attracting basins for some entire maps.* Nonlinearity 20 (2007), 391-415. 3.3
- [BKZ09] K. Barański, B. Karpińska, and A. Zdunik. Hyperbolic dimension of Julia sets of meromorphic maps with logarithmic tracts. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (4):615–624, 2009. 6.1, 44, 6.2
- [BKZ12] K. Barański, B. Karpińska and A. Zdunik. *Bowen's formula for meromorphic functions*. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 32(4):1165–1189, 2012. 4.1, 12, 4.1, 13, 6.2, 47
- [BKZ18] K. Barański, B. Karpińska, and A. Zdunik. Conformal measures for meromorphic maps. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math., 43(1):247–266, 2018. 4.2, 4.3, 16
- [Bw93] W. Bergweiler. Iteration of meromorphic functions. Bull. Amer. Math., Soc, 29:151–188, 1993. 3.1
- [Bw95] W. Bergweiler. *Invariant domains and singularities*. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 117(3):525–532, 1995. 3.2
- [Bw18] W. Bergweiler. Lebesgue measure of Julia sets and escaping sets of certain entire functions. Fund. Math., 242(3):281–301, 2018. 4.5
- [BC16] W. Bergweiler and I. Chyzhykov. *Lebesgue measure of escaping sets of entire functions of completely regular growth*. J. London Math. Soc. 94 (2016), no. 2, 639–661. 4.5
- [BE08] W. Bergweiler and A. Eremenko. Direct singularities and completely invariant domains of entire functions. Illinois J. Math., 52(1):243–259, 2008. 3
- [Bir57] G. Birkhoff. Extensions of Jentzsch's theorem. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 85:219-227, 1957. 7
- [Bi15] Ch.J. Bishop. Models for the Eremenko-Lyubich class. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 92(1):202–221, 2015.
- [Bo75] R. Bowen. Equilibrium states and the ergodic theory of Anosov diffeomorphisms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1975. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 470. 1
- [Bo79] R. Bowen. *Hausdorff dimension of quasicircles*. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (50):11–25, 1979. 1, 6.2
- [CS07a] I. Coiculescu and B. Skorulski. Thermodynamic formalism of transcendental entire maps of finite singular type. Monatsh. Math., 152(2):105–123, 2007. 1
- [CS07b] I. Coiculescu and B. Skorulski. Perturbations in the Speiser class. Rocky Mountain J. Math., 37(3):763–800, 2007. 1
- [DUZ07] A.M. Davie, M. Urbański, and A. Zdunik. *Maximizing measures of metrizable non-compact spaces*. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2), 50(1):123–151, 2007. 1
- [DU91a] M. Denker and M. Urbański. On Sullivan's conformal measures for rational maps of the Riemann sphere. Nonlinearity 4 (1991), 365-384. 4.2, 4.4, 8
- [DU91b] M. Denker, M. Urbański, *Hausdorff and conformal measures on Julia sets with a rationally indifferent periodic point*. J. London Math. Soc. 43 (1991), 107–118. 4.2, 8

- [DU91c] M. Denker, M. Urbański, Ergodic theory of equilibrium states for rational maps. Nonlinearity 4 (1991), 103–134. 8
- [DU91d] M. Denker, M. Urbański, On absolutely continuous invariant measures for expansive rational maps with rationally indifferent periodic points. Forum Math. 3(1991), 561–579. 8
- [DU91e] M. Denker, M. Urbański, On Hausdorff measures on Julia sets of subexpanding rational maps. Israel J. of Math. 76 (1991), 193–214. 8
- [DU92] M. Denker and M. Urbański, *Geometric measures for parabolic rational maps*. Ergod. Th. & Dynam. Sys. 12 (1992), 53-66. 4.2, 8
- [DU92] M. Denker and M. Urbański, The capacity of parabolic Julia sets. Math. Zeitsch., 211 (1992), 73–86.
 4.2, 8
- [DMNU98] M. Denker, D. Mauldin, Z. Nitecki and M. Urbański. *Conformal measure for rational functions revisited*. Fund. Math., 157:161–173, 1998. 4.4, 8
- [DR20] A. DeZotti and L. Rempe-Gillen. Eventual hyperbolic dimension of entire functions and poincaré functions of polynomials. preprint, 2020.
- [Do11] N. Dobbs. *Nice sets and invariant densities in complex dynamics*. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 150(1):157–165, 2011 7
- [DM89] C.I. Doering and R. Mané. The Dynamics of Inner Functions. Ensaios Matemáticos, 5–79, 1989.
 4.3
- [DSZ97] A. Douady, P. Sentenac and M. Zinsmeister. Implosion parabolique et dimension de Hausdorff. CR Acad. Sci. I 325 (1997) 7
- [EL92] A. Eremenko and M. Yu Lyubich. *Dynamical properties of some classes of entire functions*. Annales de l'institut Fourier, 42(4):989–1020, 1992. 3, 3.1, 3.3, 4.5, 4.5, 22, 5, 7
- [GPS90] P. Grzegorczyk, F. Przytycki, W. Szlenk, On iterations of Misiurewicz's rational maps on the Riemann sphere. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, 53(1990), 431–434.
- [Hal47] P. R. Halmos. Invariant measures. Ann. of Math. (2) 48 (1947), 735–754. 4.4
- [Iv1914] F. Iversen. Recherche sur les fonctions inverses des fonctions méromorphes. Thèse de Helsingfors, 1914. 3.1
- [JM95] P. W. Jones and N. G. Makarov *Density Properties of Harmonic Measure* Ann. of Math. Second Series, Vol. 142, No. 3 (Nov., 1995), pp. 427-455 40
- [Ka99] B. Karpińska. Area and Hausdorff dimension of the set of accessible points of the Julia sets of λe^z and $\lambda \sin z$. Fund. Math., 159(3):269–287, 1999. 6.1
- [KS08a] J. Kotus, G. Światek *No finite invariant density for Misiurewicz exponential maps* Comptes Rendus de l'Académie de Sciences Série Mathématique 346, 2008, 559–562.
- [KS08b] J. Kotus, G. Światek *Invariant measures for meromorphic Misiurewicz maps* Mathematical Proceedings Cambridge Philosophical Society 145, 2008, 685–697. 8
- [KU02] Janina Kotus and Mariusz Urbański. Conformal, geometric and invariant measures for transcendental expanding functions. *Math. Ann.*, 324(3):619–656, 2002. 1, 4.2
- [KU03] Janina Kotus and Mariusz Urbański. Existence of invariant measures for transcendental subexpanding functions. Math. Zeitschrift, 243 (2003), 25–36. 8
- [KU04] Janina Kotus and Mariusz Urbański. Geometry and ergodic theory of non-recurrent elliptic functions. *J. Anal. Math.*, 93:35–102, 2004. 1, 8
- [KU08] Janina Kotus and Mariusz Urbański. Fractal measures and ergodic theory of transcendental meromorphic functions. In *Transcendental dynamics and complex analysis*, volume 348 of *London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser.*, pages 251–316. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008. 1
- [KU20] Janina Kotus and Mariusz Urbański. Ergodic Theory, Geometric Measure Theory, Conformal Measures and the Dynamics of Elliptic Functions. Preprint 2020, arxiv ... 1, 3.1, 8
- [Lyu87] M. Yu. Lyubich. Mesurable dynamics of the exponential. Sibirskii Matematicheskii Zhurnal, Vol. 28, No. 5,128–133, 1987 4.5
- [Ma98] N. G. Makarov. Fine structure of harmonic measure. Algebra i Analiz, 10(2):1-62, 1998. 5.2.2
- [MU96] R. D. Mauldin, M. Urbański, *Dimensions and measures in infinite iterated function systems*. Proc. London Math. Soc. 73:3 (1996), 105–154. 4.2, 7

- [MauUrb03] R. D. Mauldin and M. Urbański. *Graph directed Markov systems*. Volume 148 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003. 4.2, 7
- [My18] Volker Mayer. A lower bound of the hyperbolic dimension for meromorphic functions having a logarithmic hölder tract. *Conformal Geometry and Dynamics*, 22:62–77, 2018. 5.2.1, 6.1, 45, 6.1
- [MSU11] Volker Mayer, Bartlomiej Skorulski, and Mariusz Urbanski. *Distance expanding random map*pings, thermodynamical formalism, Gibbs measures and fractal geometry, volume 2036 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011. 4.2
- [MU05] Volker Mayer and Mariusz Urbański. Gibbs and equilibrium measures for elliptic functions. *Math. Z.*, 250(3):657–683, 2005. 1, 8
- [MU08] Volker Mayer and Mariusz Urbański. Geometric thermodynamic formalism and real analyticity for meromorphic functions of finite order. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 28(3):915–946, 2008. 1, 3.2, 4.2, 5.1, 6.2, 7, 7
- [MU10a] Volker Mayer and Mariusz Urbański. Ergodic properties of semi-hyperbolic functions with polynomial Schwarzian derivative. *Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc.* (2), 53(2):471–502, 2010. 1, 5.1, 8
- [MU17] Volker Mayer and Mariusz Urbański. Thermodynamic formalism and integral means spectrum of logarithmic tracts for transcendental entire functions. *Proceedings AMS*, to appear. 1, 4.3, 5.2, 5.2.2, 34, 5.2.3, 5.2.3, 37, 5.2.3, 6.2, 7, 7
- [MU14] Volker Mayer and Mariusz Urbański. Random dynamics of transcendental functions. *Journal d'Analyse Math.*, 134(1):201–235, 2018. 1, 4.2, 6.2
- [MUZ16] Volker Mayer, Mariusz Urbański, and Anna Zdunik. Real analyticity for random dynamics of transcendental functions. *Ergodic Theory Dynamical Systems*, pages 1–31, 2018. 1, 7, 7, 49
- [MZ19] Volker Mayer and Anna Zdunik. The failure of Ruelle's property for entire functions. *Preprint*, 2019. 4.1, 4.4, 20, 4.4, 5.2.3, 38, 6.1, 7, 50, 7
- [McM87] Curt McMullen. Area and Hausdorff dimension of Julia sets of entire functions. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 300(1):329–342, 1987. 4.3, 4.5, 6.1
- [McM00] Curtis T. McMullen. Hausdorff dimension and conformal dynamics ii: Geometrically finite rational maps. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 75:535–593, 2000. 4.4, 4.4
- [Mi81] On iterates of e^z. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 1, 103–106, 1981. 4.5
- [Nev74] R. Nevanlinna. Eindeutige analytische Funktionen. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1974. Zweite Auflage, Reprint, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 46. 3.3
- [Nev70] Rolf Nevanlinna. Analytic functions. Translated from the second German edition by Phillip Emig. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 162. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1970. 3.1
- [Pat76] S. J. Patterson, The limit set of a Fuchsian group, Acta Math. 136 (1976), 241–273. 4.2
- [Pat87] S. J. Patterson, Lectures on measures on limit sets of Kleinian groups, in Analytical and geometric aspects of hyperbolic space, London Math. Soc., Lecture Notes 111, Cambridge Univ. Press 1987. 4.2
- [Po92] Ch. Pommerenke. Boundary behaviour of conformal maps, volume 299 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992. 5.2.2
- [P90] F. Przytycki, On the Perron–Frobenius-Ruelle operator for rational maps on the Riemann sphere and for Hölder continuous functions. BolSocBrasMat20 (1990), 95–125. 8
- [P98] F. Przytycki, *Iterations of holomorphic Collet-Eckmann maps: conformal and invariant measures.* Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 350:2 (1998), 717–742. 8
- [P18] F. Przytycki, Geometric pressure in real and complex 1-dimensional dynamics via trees of preimages and via spanning sets. Monatshefte fur Mathematik 185.1 (2018), 133–158. 8
- [PrRL07] F. Przytycki and J. Rivera-Letelier. *Statistical properties of topological Collet-Eckmann maps*. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 40(1):135–178, 2007. 7, 8

- [PrRL11] F. Przytycki and J. Rivera-Letelier. *Nice inducing schemes and the thermodynamics of rational maps*. Communications in Mathematical Physics 301.3 (2011), 661–707. 8
- [PU10] Feliks Przytycki and Mariusz Urbański. Conformal fractals: ergodic theory methods, volume 371 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2010. 1, 3.1
- [Re09a] Lasse Rempe. Hyperbolic dimension and radial julia sets of transcendental functions. *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, 137(4):1411–1420, 2009. 3.1, 3.1
- [Re09b] Lasse Rempe. Rigidity of escaping dynamics for transcendental entire functions. *Acta Math.*, 203(2):235–267, 2009. 3.3, 3.3
- [Re14] Lasse Rempe-Gillen. Hyperbolic entire functions with full hyperbolic dimension and approximation by eremenko-lyubich functions. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc.* (3), 108(5):1193–1225, 2014. 5.2.3, 6.1, 46
- [Rip08] P. J. Rippon. Baker domains. In *Transcendental dynamics and complex analysis*, volume 348 of *London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser.*, pages 371–395. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008. 8
- [Riv07] J. Rivera–Letelier, A connecting lemma for rational maps satisfying a no-growth condition, *Ergod. Th. & Dynam. Sys.* 27 (2007), 595–636. 7
- [RRRS] G. Rottenfusser, J. Rückert, L. Rempe, and D. Schleicher. Dynamic rays of bounded-type entire functions. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 173(1):77–125, 2011. 3.3, 3.3
- [MRU20] S. Munday, M. Roy, M. Urbański, Non-Invertible Dynamical Systems, in preparation. 1
- [Rue78] D. Ruelle. *Thermodynamic formalism*, volume 5 of *Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications*. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass., 1978. The mathematical structures of classical equilibrium statistical mechanics, With a foreword by Giovanni Gallavotti and Gian-Carlo Rota. 1
- [Rue82] D. Ruelle. *Repellers for real analytic maps*. Ergodic Theory Dynamical Systems, 2(1):99–107, 1982 1, 7
- [Rug08] H.H. Rugh. On the dimension of conformal repellors. randomness and parameter dependency. Ann of Math. vol 168, no 3, 695-748, 2008. 7
- [Shi98] M. Shishikura. The Hausdorff dimension of the boundary of the Mandelbrot set and Julia sets. Ann. of Math., 147, 225–267, 1998. 4.4, 7
- [Si72] Ya. G. Sinai, Gibbs Measures in Eergodic Theory. Russian Mathematical Surveys. 27, 21–70, 1972. 1
- [Si15] D.J. Sixsmith. Julia and escaping set spiders' webs of positive area. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2015, no. 19, 9751–9774. 4.5
- [SU14] Bartlomiej Skorulski and Mariusz Urbański. Finer fractal geometry for analytic families of conformal dynamical systems. *Dyn. Syst.*, 29(3):369–398, 2014. 3.1, 7, 7, 48, 7
- [St90] Gwyneth M. Stallard. Entire functions with Julia sets of zero measure. *Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, 108(3):551–557, 1990. 3.2, 3.2, 6.1, 42
- [St08] Gwyneth M. Stallard. Dimensions of Julia sets of transcendental meromorphic functions. In Transcendental dynamics and complex analysis, volume 348 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 425–446. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008. 6
- [SU03] Bernd Stratmann and Mariusz Urbański, Real analyticity of topological pressure for parabolically semihyperbolic generalized polynomial-like maps. Indag. Mathem. 14 (2003), 119–134. 8
- [SU03] Bernd Stratmann and Mariusz Urbański, Multifractal analysis for parabolically semihyperbolic generalized polynomial-like maps. IP New Studies in Advanced Mathematics 5 (2004), 393–447. 8
- [Su79] Denis Sullivan. The density at infinity of a discrete group. *Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Pub. Math. 50* (1979). 1, 4.2
- [Su82a] Denis Sullivan. Disjoint Spheres, Approximation by Imaginary Quadratic Numbers and the Logarithmic Law for Geodesics. *Acta Math.* 149 (1982), 215–237. 4.2
- [Su82b] D. Sullivan. Seminar on conformal and hyperbolic geometry. Preprint IHES, 1982. 4.2, 4.3
- [Su83] Denis Sullivan. Conformal dynamical systems. In: Geometric dynamics. *Lect. Notes in Math.* 1007 (1983), 725–752, Springer Verlag. 4.2
- [Su84] Denis Sullivan. Entropy, Hausdorff measures old and new, and the limit set of a geometrically finite Kleinian groups. *Acta. Math.* 153 (1984), 259–277. 4.2

- [Su86] Denis Sullivan. Quasiconformal homeomorphisms in dynamics, topology, and geometry. *Proc. Internat. Congress of Math., Berkeley, Amer. Math. Soc., 1986, 1216-1228.* 1, 4.2
- [UZ03] Mariusz Urbański and Anna Zdunik. The finer geometry and dynamics of the hyperbolic exponential family. *Michigan Math. J.*, 51(2):227–250, 2003. 1, 4.2, 6.1, 42, 6.2, 6.2, 7, 7
- [U94] Mariusz Urbański, *Rational functions with no recurrent critical points*. Ergod. Th. and Dynam. Sys. 14 (1994), 391–414. 8
- [U97] Mariusz Urbański, *Geometry and ergodic theory of conformal non–recurrent dynamics*. Ergod. Th. and Dynam. Sys. 17 (1997), 1449–1476. 8
- [UZ04] Mariusz Urbański and Anna Zdunik. Real analyticity of Hausdorff dimension of finer Julia sets of exponential family. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 24(1):279–315, 2004. 1, 4.2, 6.2, 6.2
- [UZ07] Mariusz Urbański and Anna Zdunik. Geometry and ergodic theory of non-hyperbolic exponential maps. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 359(8):3973–3997, 2007. 1, 8
- [UZ18] Mariusz Urbański and Anna Zdunik. Random non-hyperbolic exponential maps. *Preprint 2018. To appear Journal d'Analyse Mathématique*. 1, 4.2, 6.2, 8
- [Wal75] P. Walters, A Variational Principle for the Pressure of Continuous Transformations. *American Journal of Mathematics*, 97, 937–971, 1975. 1
- [Wal82] Peter Walters. *An introduction to ergodic theory,* volume 79 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982. 1
- [Zh15] Jian-Hua Zheng. Dynamics of hyperbolic meromorphic functions. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 35(5):2273–2298, 2015. 3.2
- [Zi00] Michel Zinsmeister. Thermodynamic formalism and holomorphic dynamical systems, volume 2 of SMF/AMS Texts and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2000. Translated from the 1996 French original by C. Greg Anderson. 1

Volker Mayer, Université de Lille, Département de Mathématiques, UMR 8524 du CNRS, 59655 Villeneuve d'Asco Cedex, France

Email address: volker.mayer@univ-lille.fr

Mariusz Urbański, Department of Mathematics, University of North Texas, Denton, TX 76203-1430, USA

Email address: urbanski@unt.edu Web: www.math.unt.edu/~urbanski